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" Management'’s Report
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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of China
Environmental Resources Group Limited (the “Company”), | am
pleased to present the Annual Report 2018 and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 30 June 2018.

BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW

The Group is currently engaged in metal recycle business, motor
and motor accessories business, car parking spaces rental, money
lending business and securities trading and investment business.
The Group also maintains the green businesses of research,
development and application of technologies and solutions,
manufacture, sale and trading of products, materials, systems and
services for green market segments including the environmental
markets, agricultural markets, organic markets and green
technology markets in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
and overseas. The Group has been continuing to explore new
business opportunities for corporate development and dedicates to
develop sustainable current business.

By way of a forestry management and undertaking agreement, the
Group through its wholly-owned subsidiary acquired timber cutting
right over a plantation land of approximately 30,000 mu (Chinese
Mu) in Shihezi City, Xinjiang for a period of 30 years commencing
on 1 July 2008.

The underground water level of the region in Shihezi City,
Xinjiang dropped drastically in recent years due to over-
exploitation of farmland, resulting in a shortage of water
resources.

The irrigation in Xinjiang relies heavily on underground water,
because the supply of surface water is far below the demand for
plantation irrigation, thus creating difficulties for hydraulic
engineering projects for plantation areas and driving up the
operating costs.

The Group has made several attempts to enhance the value of the
plantation business (“Plantation Business”) including (i) negotiation
with other plantation owners to swap the Group’s plantation land
(the “Plantation Land”) with other forestry assets which are in
better condition, enabling the Group to rationalize its investment
in the Plantation Business and generate better return on
investment and (ii) reconstruction and upgrade of Plantation Land
(the "Reconstruction”) where the Group had considered to
enhance the plantation irrigation by investing approximately
RMB194 million for the construction of irrigation system to ensure
sufficient water supply from other water sources to regenerate
suitable condition for the plantation growth.
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As referred to the announcement dated 20 August 2018, due to
the extreme climate in Shihezi City, the Group considered that it
would be appropriate to obtain a comprehensive understanding of
the current condition of the Plantation Land by conducting a
feasibility study before any further negotiation of Assets Swap to
prevent the Group from exposing to excessive warranties. Indeed,
the recent negative responses from the vendor of target forestry
had also raised the management’s concern over the condition of
the Plantation Land.

The Group has engaged Malcolm & Associates Appraisal Limited
("Malcolm”) to conduct an update of a feasibility study of the
Reconstruction. In preparing the update of a feasibility study,
Malcolm has sent professionals to visit the site where our
Plantation Land located and visit the Water Resources and Forestry
Bureau* Al THE X in the Shihezi People’s Government* in
order to obtain sufficient information to be incorporated in the
feasibility study.

The Group owns industrial properties which comprise 2 parcels of
land with a site area of approximately 72,335.99 sq. m. and
various buildings and ancillary structures erected thereon with a
total gross floor area of approximately 28,814.66 sq. m. located at
Longchuanzhou, Renzhou Village, Shatian, Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC.

The Group owns 95 car parking spaces located in Kennedy Town,
Hong Kong. In view of recent surge in real property market price
in Hong Kong, the prospect of car parking spaces in Hong Kong
remain positive.

For the financial year ended 30 June 2018, turnover of the Group
increased by 1,419% to approximately HK$212.28 million with
gross profit of approximately HK$19.30 million, represented an
increase of approximately 168%. Loss for the year amounted to
approximately HK$160.59 million mainly attributed to the increase
in administrative and operating expenses and loss arising from
changes in fair value less costs to sell of biological assets.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

In the process of valuing the biological assets, Roma Appraisals
Limited (“Roma”) adopted the Market-Based Approach to estimate
the fair value of the biological assets. The fair value of the
biological assets was computed using the formula:

The fair value of biological assets = (Total volume of standing
timbers x Recovery rate) x Market price of timber — Cutting cost +
Scrap sale income

According to R & E(H{EIRE prepared by forestry manager,
random sampling has been performed in order to estimate the
total volume of standing timbers on the Plantation Land based on
CHEE A RHEMBIBEKELRARMIER GB/T 4814-2013". During
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each time of the sampling process, there were 20 sampling areas
with an area of about 0.5 Mu. The following inputs, coming from
the projection of the results of sampling process have been
adopted in this valuation based on the opinions as stated in 2 2
& E LB R4 prepared by forestry manager:

Total volume of standing timbers = 566,179 m?
Recovery rate = 80%

Cutting cost = 5% of revenue

Scrap sale income = 5% of revenue

With reference to observable market price of timber of similar
species in the PRC, the adopted market price was RMB650 per
cubic meter.

To determine how the different values of an independent variable
would impact a particular dependent variable under a given set of
assumptions, Roma carried out sensitivity analysis on the fair value
of the biological assets in respect of the recovery rate and
adopted market price. The results of the sensitivity analysis are as
follows:

12 7 - K A201E ® f8 /& £90.58 2 i
B REMAKERR L REEEMER
SAHE R  NMAEE KM IA T BE# X
R 2 TRR 8 A BUE

RIERKMAR4EE = 566,1793 J7 K
HUE = 80%

AR AR =W 25 2 5%
BER S E W A =28 2 5%

KR2ERBERBAM Z ATBHEME @ AT
WTHB AEI KA REGS0TT -

REERN—MHABFERE TN —BAREEEAL
BETRAHEX - HEBRACTE BEFE
RUREBERARATELENEERR
EETHREDN - BRBEINERDT

Absolute Change in Recovery Rate

Applied Recovery Rate

Fair Value of the Biological Asset

R R BB E Fit FA #% W 38 EYMEEARE
(RMB)
(AR®)
+10% 90% 311,350,000
+5% 85% 311,350,000
+0% 80% 294,413,000
-5% 75% 276,012,000
-10% 70% 257,611,000

% Change in Adopted Market Price

Adopted Market Price

Fair Value of the Biological Asset

PR EEE % FriR&n T & EYMBEELARE
(RMB/m3) (RMB)
(BIBKARE) (AR®)
+10% 715 323,854,000
+5% 683 309,133,000
+0% 650 294,413,000
-5% 618 279,692,000
-10% 585 264,972,000

The directors are of the view that the fair value of the biological
assets is under a significant impact from changes in market price
per m?> of logs. If the market price per m® of logs increases/
decreases, the fair value of the biological assets would be higher/
lower proportionately, holding other inputs and assumptions used
in the valuation techniques remained unchanged.
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2018, growth and volume of
the biological assets were affected by reasons stated. The Group
recorded a decrease to approximately HK$348.93 million (2017:
HK$506.02 million) in the fair value of the poplar trees of
biological assets. The Group considers that the decrease is non-
cash in nature and will not have material adverse effect on the
financial position of the Group.

During the financial year ended 30 June 2018, the Group
recognized aggregate losses arising from the major non-current
assets of approximately HK$179.8 million (2017: HK$38 million).
This represents the combined effect of the amortization of
intangible assets and the loss arising from changes in fair value
less costs to sell of biological assets.

Metal Recycle Business

The Group started its metal recycle business in November 2017.
Since the commencement of the business and during the year
ended 30 June 2018, the Group recorded from recycled metal
materials trading revenue of approximately HK$184,570,000 (2017:
Nil). It is the main revenue generator of the Group.

The Group has leased a manufacturing base at Pat Heung, Yuen
Long which operates as waste metal materials collection and
warehouse. Requisite machineries and equipment have been
installed at the base to facilitate some primary processing works
be done to wasted metal materials collected.

The Group is adopting a conservative approach for the
development of the recycled metal materials collection and trading
business. Whilst most of the recycled metal materials tradings
were local trades, it is understood that a large proportion, in
terms of monetary value, of them were for importation to the
PRC. In the first half of 2018, the PRC government authorities
implemented various new regulations and policies on importation
of wasted materials. One of the objectives of these new
regulations and policies is to ensure imported recycled metal
materials are being processed at certain level to mitigate
environmental pollution. These new rules have increased the
processing costs.

There are other factors affecting the Group’s consideration of the
PRC market. Downward fluctuation of Renminbi would have
adverse effect on profit margin and even lead to loss. The trade
war between the PRC and the United States of America with its
unknown duration and magnitude will definitely affect production
industries in the PRC.

The Group is looking into opportunities of exporting recycled
metal materials to other South East Asia countries to alleviate
reliance on the PRC market.
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Benefited from the policy of reducing excess capacity enforced by
the PRC government, many companies and factories affected by
this policy relocated their production plants from the PRC to
South East Asia countries. Also, the Belt and Road Initiative
adopted and promoted by the PRC government positively creates
investments in these countries. The initial focus of the Belt and
Road Initiative has been infrastructure investment, construction
materials, railway and highway, automobile, real estate, power
grid, and iron and steel. Already, some estimates list the Belt and
Road Initiative as one of the largest infrastructure and investments
in history, covering more than 68 countries, including almost all
South East Asia countries. Many of these countries recorded a
sharp increase in importation of recycled metal materials. The
Group's strategy is to locate reputable end users or importers of
recycled metal materials and supply or trade with them directly.

Motor and Motor Accessories Business

During the year, the Group maintained business on sale of the
super car “BAC Mono” and motorcycle “Norton” and “Bimota”.
Sales on this motor trading segment had been slowed down and
underperformed but revenue of the whole business had been
compensated by the growth in the motor accessories trading.

The “Ohlins” motorcycle components were able to maintain their
sales level to the expectation of the Group. The breakthrough
came in January 2018 when we, after lengthy discussions and
negotiations, became an authorised distributor of “Pirelli”
motorcycle tyres for the China market. “Pirelli” is one of the
leading prestigious tyre manufacturers for motor vehicles and
motorcycles. We concluded that it would be a good business to
distribute “Pirelli” motorcycle tyres after learning “Pirelli” had
modified its market strategy to build and operate a tyre factory in
Indonesia to produce motorcycle tyres catering for the upper-
lower and middle price ranges. Our move proved to be sound and
correct. The Group started trading with “Pirelli “motorcycle tyres
from April 2018 and, for a short period of less than two months,
it contributed over half of the revenue for this business segment.
The Group will put more efforts to consolidate and expand the
“Pirelli” motorcycle tyres business.

For the year ended 30 June 2018, revenue from motor and motor
accessories business was approximately HK$22,042,000 (2017:
HK$8,431,000).

Car Parking Spaces Rental

The car parking spaces continued to provide a stable revenue and
cash flow to the Group. Refurbishment of the car parking spaces
to enhance the property value and/or operate the car parking
spaces by the Group itself to enhance rental revenue are still
under consideration. For the year ended 30 June 2018, rental
income recorded was approximately HK$3,751,000 (2017:
HK$3,571,000).

08 China Environmental Resources Group Limited

XERTEBNET 2D EBRFK
R ZRAXBBRREZENRARTIHSE
EMEATEEBERBREX - I+
B SR S B R — & — BRI
BREARERE - —H—BERRNITE
PRERZRE BN HEAK - RE 5B
WE EWMREHE - —LEFEK—F—
BERRIBLE EFRRERZRKEEZ — &
EZHeeEB R BRHEEBATOREEE
R REZUFERNE RS BEYHE DY
BREGAEEN - AREZRKBERYEEE
RFWOKesBYHEREREHED
BUAEERRARSEHERESR -

RERAEERGFER

[Ohlins |EEBE Mt NE B FTHEBN
HEKFE - KBRBFARNRERR - T
BRR_F-NE-ANERBE KA
[ Pirelli | B B B o5 A 10 P Bl T 35 2 A& 7 35
B [Pirelli |RBEEZRTEREEEHMNK
SUEmZ— - ZHFIREB - B&[ Pirelli B2
EmGRE ROEEEREERR T
B AEEYNAEETRTEERBENESR
Bk Dl Pireli |EEBHIB BRI
X -BMNTHCREARSIELER-
AEBE T N\FHARKES] Pirelli ]
EEHERK ELXMEASRE SR
EBoHERBE—Folka AEEK
BMAORBE RBER[Pirelli | EEE R E
75 o

HE-_Z-NE~A=+BILtEE  "E
RO B ET 2 W 49 522,042,000
T(ZZF—+ £ : 8,431,000 1) ©

FEHUAS

FENHEEELSAERREREBTRE R
ReRe AEEMNEZEERHIEEMIE
SYEBER BT E =B AN
HeWHF -BHE-_E—N\FANA=1+HIE
FEHEHESWAL3,751,0008 L (==
— 4 : 3,571,000/ 7T) °

2018 Annual Report



Management’s Report
EERERE

Money Lending Business

The Company operates money lending business through a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, which is a holder of money
lender’s license under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163
of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group has adopted money
lending policies and procedures for handling and/or monitoring
the money lending business in compliance with the Money
Lenders Ordinance.

The Group will continue to balance its internal resources for
different business segments and will continue to operate the
money lending business with internally generated cash flow.

During the year, the Group recorded loan interest income of
approximately HK$1,913,000 (2017: HK$1,969,000) from granting
loans to both corporate and individual clients, representing a
relatively stable development of the money lending segment. The
outstanding principal amount of loan receivables as at 30 June
2018 was approximately HK$24,843,000 (2017: HK$25,010,000).
During the year, the Group did not record any doubtful or bad
debt in its money lending business.

Trading and Investment Business

Due to the market uncertainty and fluctuation in 2018, the Group
was prudent in the trading and investment business. For the year
ended 30 June 2018, the net loss on fair value changes on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$164,000 was recorded (2017: net loss of
HK$949,000).

Green Technology

There was no revenue on the green technology for the year
(2017: Nil). The operation has been ceased from 1 June 2018.

Investment Properties in the PRC

During the year ended 30 June 2017, the Group has acquired
industrial properties in Dongguan City, the PRC. The Group
considers that the Belt and Road Initiative promoted by the
Central Government of the PRC and the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area development will support economic
development of the Dongguan City as an international trade hub
in the Southern China.

Planning to the best usage or redevelopment of the industrial
properties had been delayed because of publication of a new
town zoning plan by the Dongguan government authority. Under
the new zoning plan a new highway was being mapped and part
of the land of the industrial properties would be used as or
affected by an exit and its connected roads from the highway for
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Shatian Town. The Group had petitioned to the Dongguan City
government authorities requesting amendments to the plan to save
the industrial properties from being affected. The Group will
closely monitor the development and work on the best possible
solution in the circumstances.

Plantation Sales Business

For the year ended 30 June 2018, there was no
generated from plantation sales business (2017: Nil).

revenue

The Group has been maintaining Plantation Land of approximately
30,000 mu (Chinese mu) in Shihezi, Xinjiang of the PRC with
which the Group is keen to have it be effectively used to
rejuvenate the plantation sales business.

As the water level of the underground water resource for the
Plantation Land and nearby regions being the main supply of the
irrigation system has continued to drop in recent years, the supply
of surface water is much below the demand for plantation
irrigation, resulting in difficulties for conducting hydraulic
engineering projects for the Plantation Land and driving up of
operating costs.

In order to rejuvenate the plantation sales business, the Group has
engaged Shihezi Technology Development Limited (£ ] = & A &}
FFE AR A A to conduct a feasibility study in relation to the
construction and upgrade the plantation land in 2014. The total
costs for the construction as stated in the feasibility study report
was approximately RMB194 million. In addition, the Group has
also been actively exploring other alternatives such as asset swap
of the Plantation Land with other forestry assets. The above
details have been given in an announcement of the Company
dated 14 February 2018.

However, due to the recent extreme climate in Xinjiang, the
Group considers that there might be negative impact on the total
costs of the construction plan. As such, the Group engaged
Malcolm to conduct a further feasibility study in June 2018 in
order to (i) obtain an updated information of the current
condition of the Plantation Land; and (ii) assess the sufficiency of
the budget cost of approximately RMB194 million as stated in the
feasibility study report in 2014. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 20 August 2018.

In performing the further feasibility study, the representatives of
Malcolm had conducted a site visit and inspection of the
Plantation Land, and also visited the Water Resources and Forestry
Bureau* A A F#MEZEE to collect relevant information in relation
to the forestry in the local region, including but not limited to
water resources, impact of extreme climate on forestry, harvest of
the forestry etc.
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Based on the feasibility study report issued by Malcolm, total
budget costs for the construction plan may escalate to
approximately RMB232 million due the increase in the unit rates of
the material and labour. However, Malcolm is of the view that
such amount is still insufficient to rejuvenate the plantation sales
business of the Group due to the following reasons:

(a)

(b)

extreme shortage of water resources for the drip
irrigation system

With the site inspection and relevant information obtained
from the local government department, Malcolm understands
that the nearby river, as the main supply of the drip
irrigation system for the Plantation Land, has been drying up
over the past years as a result of the frequent earthquakes
in Xinjiang. Besides, the underground water resources
through the existing wells cannot meet the demand to
irrigate the Plantation Land. As such, Malcolm considers that
the drip irrigation system for the Plantation Land may
involve material risks of the extreme shortage of water
resources and the construction plan would be subject to
further substantial investments in enhancing water resources
for the Plantation Land, such as constructing additional wells
or extracting water from other nearby rivers.

soil degradation and broken ecosystem

Due to the extreme water shortage in recent years as
mentioned above, the soil on the surface of the Plantation
Land has commenced to deteriorate leading to soil
degradation and salinization. During the site inspection,
Malcolm noticed no sign of the plantation ecosystem, i.e.
species and insects, in the Plantation Land which would
further deteriorate the soil barren problems. Therefore,
Malcolm is of the opinion that the Plantation Land is not
suitable for planting unless a suitable ecological environment
for the forestry could be recreated, which requires enormous
amount of additional capital and time for the Group.

Save for the above, Malcolm also highlighted in the
feasibility report the legal and regulatory restrictions in the
forestry industry. According to the regulation on the
implementation of the Forestry Law of the PRC, the PRC
government has implemented a system which, in general
term, restricts the volume of timber as the harvest quota to
be harvested annually. With reference to the public
information published by the PRC government (http://www.
gov.cn/gongbao/content/2016/content_5045985.htm), under
the 13th Five-Year Plan, the total approved harvest quota of
timbers for Xinjiang Production and Construction Corps. (7
BAEEKREE) (the “XPCC”) is approximately 637,000 m?
per annum during 2016 to 2020. In this regard, Malcolm
considers that the construction plan is subject to a material
risk and high level of uncertainty on the production as the
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entitled harvest quota of timber for the Group might be
significantly lower than its expectation once the Plantation
Land has to share the limited quotas with other forestry in
the XPCC.

In conclusion, Malcolm is of the view that there is no economic
and commercial justification to implement the construction of the
Plantation Land.

Mainly due to the reasons as stated above, the Group recorded (i)
a significant loss on change in fair value less costs to sell of
biological assets of the Group from approximately HK$506.0
million as at 30 June 2017 to approximately HK$348.9 million as
at 30 June 2018; and (ii) a significant increase in the loss of the
Group for the year ended 30 June 2018, representing a loss for
the year of approximately HK$160.59 million.

Having considered that the Plantation Land has no commercial
value based on facts and circumstances as stated in Malcolm'’s
report, the Board is of the view that neither the construction of
Plantation Land nor asset swap is in the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole and will proceed at this stage.
The Group will examine all alternatives and work out the best
possible use of the Plantation Land as soon as possible.

Golden Flower Tea Products

Golden flower, known academically as Camellia Nitidissima Chi, is
a world-famous economic and ornamental plant with golden
yellow flowers. It has been classified as one of the rarest and
most endangered plants in China. According to research, golden
flower contains ingredients of various health efficacy, such as
conditioning against hyperdipemia, strengthening digestive and
immune systems and treating hematechzia and profuse
menstruation.

In May 2018, the Group had completed an acquisition by which
the Group had secured an exclusive right from EREZE$ 2%
ERARAF (the "EREZES") for the distribution and sale
of products associated with its golden flower plantation for a
period of 30 years. EHRE % & & is principally engaged in the
production and sale of golden flower tea products and has one of
the largest golden flower plantations in the world.

The Group has engaged E X & A8 4% {5 S BB BR A 7], which
is a subsidiary of Shenzhen Tencent Computer System Company
Limited, to plan and support promotion programmes for the
golden flower tea products. Being a genuine health tea product
and the engagement of professional networking promotion
company, the Group is of the view that the golden flower tea
products business would reinforce our strategy in diversifying our
business portfolio by tapping into the PRC tea products market
and create additional income stream for the Group.
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PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the world economy especially that of the PRC
and Hong Kong is full of uncertainties and likely entering into a
slow down or even downward trend. The situation is attributable
to, inter alia, the trade war between the PRC and the United
States of America, measures taken by the United States of
America, the European Union and other countries to counter the
rise of the PRC’s political influence in the world and notably the
South China Sea and Asia Pacific region especially through her
Belt and Road Initiative and the highly likely gradual rise in bank
interest rate. Hopefully, the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay, which has advanced from a concept to national
strategy level, will bring more investment and business
opportunities to Hong Kong enterprises.

The management of the Group has continued to review its
existing business from time to time and strived to improve the
business operation and financial position of the Group.

During the year, the Group had a remarkable increase in its
revenue. In view of the business and economic environment are
becoming more challenging and unstable, the Group is of the
view that it would be wise to adopt an approach of consolidation
and careful expansion for its existing businesses. We are aiming at
consolidating our revenue generating businesses to improve their
profitability and plan their expansion carefully. As for those non or
minimal revenue generating businesses and assets, the Group shall
closely scrutinise the worth of their continuation and, if
continuation is warranted, cut their running or maintenance costs
and expenses to a level commensurate with their worth. However,
this approach shall not affect our business strategy to seek and
consider viable good and valuable potential investment
opportunities. The directors of the Company consider that a
combination of consolidation and careful expansion for existing
businesses and investing only at viable good and valuable new
ventures are proper and prudent manners to be adopted especially
in the present economic situation in order to enhance the value of
the Group for the benefit of the shareholders of the Company.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 30 June 2018, turnover of the Group
increased by 1,419% to approximately HK$212,276,000 (2017:
HK$13,971,000) and gross profit of the Group increased by 168%
to approximately HK$19,303,000 (2017: HK$7,216,000). Loss for
the year ended 30 June 2018 increased to approximately
HK$160,586,000 as compared to loss of approximately
HK$29,204,000 of last corresponding year. The increase in both
turnover and gross profit for the year was mainly due to the
newly launched recycled material trading business and the newly
introduced tyre products of the Group. The loss for the year was
mainly due to the increase in administrative and operating
expenses and loss arising from the change in fair value less costs
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to sell of biological assets. The Group considers that the change in
fair value is non-cash in nature and will not have material adverse
effect on the financial position of the Group.

For the year ended 30 June 2018, basic and diluted loss per share
were HK9 cents (2017: HK2 cents). Loss from changes in fair value
of biological assets was approximately HK$174,687,000 (2017:
HK$33,233,000). Fair value gain on investment properties was
approximately HK$7,954,000 (2017: HK$14,938,000).

For the year ended 30 June 2018, the finance costs were
approximately HK$548,000 (2017: HK$161,000).

Administrative expenses from operations for the year ended
30 June 2018 increased to approximately HK$60,624,000 (2017:
HK$37,811,000). It included major items such as amortization of
intangible assets of approximately HK$5,125,000, salaries and
directors’ emoluments of approximately HK$24,383,000, operating
lease charges on land and buildings of approximately
HK$6,120,000, forest plantation maintenance fee of approximately
HK$3,500,000. Income tax credit was recorded at approximately
HK$44,475,000 (2017: HK$9,238,000). Exchange gain on
translating foreign operations was recorded at approximately
HK$17,791,000 (2017: loss HK$6,852,000).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 30 June 2018, the total assets of the Group were
approximately HK$919,834,000 (2017: HK$1,034,559,000),
including cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$13,027,000 (2017: HK$13,015,000). The directors of the
Company are of the view that the Group has sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable future.

CAPITAL RAISING AND EXPENDITURE

As at 30 June 2018, details of movements in the issued share
capital of the Company is stated in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On 31 May 2018, the Group completed the acquisition of the
entire share capital of Reward Pinnacle Limited, which has secured
exclusive rights for distribution and sales of products associated
with the golden flower tea business in the PRC for a period of 30
years. Further details can be referred to the announcements made
by the Company on 2 May 2018 and 31 May 2018 respectively.
Save as disclosed above, the Group had neither material
acquisition nor disposal during the year.
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EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2018, the Group had 49 (2017: 26) employees in
both Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group implements
remuneration policy, bonus and share option scheme to ensure
that pay scales of its employees are rewarded on a performance-
related basis within the general framework of the Group’s
remuneration.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP ASSETS

Details of the charges of assets of the Group are set out in note
18 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of
any dividend in respect of the year ended 30 June 2018 (2017:
Nil).

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATE

Since most of the transactions, income and expenditure of the
Group are denominated in Great British Pound (“£"), Renminbi
(“RMB”), United States dollar (“USD"”) and Hong Kong dollar
("HK$"), no hedging or other arrangements to reduce the
currency risk have been implemented.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2018, the directors of the Company are not aware
of any material contingent liabilities.

Yeung Chi Hang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 September 2018

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors

ESEHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang, aged 39, was appointed as Executive
Director on 16 January 2014. Mr. Yeung was also appointed as
the Chairman and chief executive officer of the Company on
27 January 2015. Mr. Yeung is a substantial shareholder of the
Company. Mr. Yeung studied at Camosun College, Canada and
has over 10 years of experience in investment, hotel management
and in operating entertainment businesses.

Mr. Leung Kwong Choi, aged 62, was appointed as Executive
Director on 6 October 2008. He is also the Chairman of the
investment committee of the Company. Mr. Leung holds a
Bachelor of Social Science Degree from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong. He had been working for 10 years in the marketing
department of Hang Lung Development Ltd. since graduation. Mr.
Leung had also served the positions of executive director of Top
Glory Holdings Ltd., China Food Ltd. and Cheung Tai Hong
Holdings Ltd., all of which are companies with shares listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Leung has over
28 years of real estate and business experience in Hong Kong and
the PRC concentrating in property investment and development,
acquisition and merger, deal marking and investment projects
arrangement. He resigned as an independent non-executive
director of Top Spring International Holdings Limited (stock code:
3688) with effect from 2 January 2018.

Mr. Wong Po Keung, aged 47, was appointed as Executive
Director on 30 September 2013. He is also the director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company, the financial controller and a
member of the investment committee of the Company. Mr. Wong
holds a Master degree in business administration from the
University of South Australia. He is a fellow member of both the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has ample
experience in auditing, accounting, financial management and
company secretarial practices in respect of listed companies.

Mr. Chung Siu Wah, aged 61, was appointed as Executive
Director on 14 August 2014. Mr. Chung started his career in 1976
by joining the Hong Kong Government as a Customs Inspector. He
obtained his law degree with honour at the University of London
in 1986 and further obtained his Postgraduate Certificate of Laws
at University of Hong Kong in 1987. He resigned from the
Customs and Excise Department in 1987 and started his legal
career. He has been a solicitor practicing in Hong Kong since
1989. He joined Messer. Tony Kan & Co. in 1987 and became a
partner in 1992. He retired from the partnership in 2004 but
continues to associate with the law firm as a consultant till now.
Mr. Chung has over 8 year experience in the hotel, gaming and
entertainment industry. Mr. Chung has also experience in the
management of listed company at Hong Kong. He was appointed
as an executive director of Daido Group Limited (stock code: 544)
for the period from 9 September 2011 to 5 August 2013.
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Mr. Chik To Pan, aged 39, was appointed as Executive Director
on 16 April 2016. He is the director of one of the subsidiary of
the Company. Mr. Chik has wide experience in licensing of
karaoke music products, operating entertainment businesses and
wedding service business. Mr. Chik has also experience in the
management of listed company at Hong Kong. He was appointed
as an executive director of United Power Investment Limited (now
named as Culture Landmark Investment Limited) (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 674) for
the period from 8 March 2005 to 24 January 2008.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kwai Sang, aged 66, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 2 March 2009. He is also
a member of the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wong had been an
Independent Non-executive Director, member of audit committee
and member of remuneration committee of the Company since
3 July 2002. He resigned on 4 July 2008 as he himself had a long
term personal assignment stationed in Shanghai. Mr. Wong had
completed his assignment in Shanghai and returned to Hong
Kong. He holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree from the
University of Hong Kong. He is a property consultant and a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate Administrators
and the Australian Institute of Building respectively.

Mr. Ong Chi King, aged 45, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director on 27 January 2014. He is also the
chairman of audit committee, nomination committee and
remuneration committee. Mr. Ong is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Ong
received a bachelor's degree in business administration from The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and a master’s
degree in corporate finance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Mr. Ong has more than 20 years of experience in
accounting, finance and company secretarial fields and held senior
positions in finance and company secretarial departments in
various listed companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Ong is currently an executive director of Deson
Construction International Holdings Limited (stock code: 8268).
Mr. Ong is also as an independent non-executive director of Larry
Jewelry International Company Limited (stock code: 8351). He
resigned as an independent non-executive director of KSL Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8170), King Force Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8315), Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
1718), WLS Holdings Limited (stock code: 8021), Capital VC
Limited (stock code: 2324) and Hong Kong Education (Int'l)
Investments Limited (stock code: 1082) with effect from 2 June
2016, 19 September 2016, 8 March 2017, 29 March 2017,
31 March 2017 and 9 November 2017, respectively.

Mr. Ong was a director of Fitness Concept International Holdings
Limited prior to its dissolution. The said company was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and was dissolved on 30 June
2005 by striking off due to cessation of business.
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Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric, aged 50, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director on 16 January 2015. He is
also a member of audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee. He is a qualified solicitor admitted to the
Supreme Court of Hong Kong and a Civil Celebrant of Marriages.
Mr. Heung received a bachelor’s degree in Law from University of
Leicester England. He has more than 22 years of experience in the
legal profession.

Mr. Heung is presently a partner of Messrs. Tung, Ng, Tse &
Heung, an independent non-executive director of WE Solutions
Limited (stock code: 860), director of Lions Clubs of Kwai Tsing
HKSAR, committee legal adviser of the Association of the Hong
Kong Members of Shandong’s Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, executive committee member of Basic
Law Institute Limited, Honorary President of Federation of HK
Guangxi Community Organisations Limited and committee member
of USRC Standing Disciplinary. He was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Gold Tat Group
International Limited (stock code: 8266) for the period from
18 August 2000 to 3 March 2015. He resigned as an independent
non-executive director of Zhong Fa Zhan Holdings Limited (stock
code: 475) with effect from 20 October 2017.

18 China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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Report of the Directors
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The Board has pleasure to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 30 June 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in metal recycle business, motor and
motor accessories business, selling of golden flower tea products,
car parking spaces rental, money lending business, securities
trading and investment business. The Group also maintains the
green businesses of research, development and application of
technologies and solutions, manufacture, sale and trading of
products, materials systems and services for green market
segments including the environmental markets, agricultural
markets, organic markets, green technology markets in the PRC
and overseas.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
note 38 on pages 124 to 126 of the financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2018 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 56 to 57.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group and an analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year using financial key performance
indicators are set out in the section headed “Management’s
Report” on pages 4 to 15 of this annual report.

Description of possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may
be facing can be found in the section headed “Management’s
Report” and Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements on
pages 84 to 88 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
year ended 30 June 2018 (2017: Nil).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the entitlement of the
shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Wednesday, 7 November 2018 to Monday,
12 November 2018 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of share(s) will be affected. In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the annual general meeting, all transfers
documents, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must
be lodged with Union Registrars Limited, the branch share
registrar and transfer office of the Company in Hong Kong, at
Suites 3301-04, 33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338
King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:00 p.m. on Tuesday, 6 November 2018.

SEGMENTS INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to results by
operating segments for the financial year is set out in Note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Movement of share capital during the year

Details of the share capital of the Company and its movements
during the year ended 30 June 2018 are set out in Note 30 of the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 60.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 30 June 2018 amounted
to approximately HK$735,665,000. Under section 34 of the
Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium is available for distribution to the Shareholders subject to
the provisions of the articles of association of the Company (the
"Articles of Association”), and no distribution may be paid to the
Shareholders out of the Company’s share premium unless the
Company shall be able to pay its debt as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the
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year are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS BEEHH

Details of pledge of assets during the year are set out in Note 18 F R EEZHFBFHII R GAMBHRER
to the consolidated financial statements. B 18/ ©

DIRECTORS EE

The Directors during the financial year and up to date of this AU BEELRHBEEAREBE FHESN
report were: N

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang CERED e

Mr. Leung Kwong Choi REAE

Mr. Wong Po Keung HmRE K&

Mr. Chung Siu Wah i8Rk &

Mr. Chik To Pan BB A

Independent Non-executive Directors BIAFRITES

Mr. Wong Kwai Sang =sEHEERE

Mr. Ong Chi King FFHEEE

Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric AEERE

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Mr. Leung Kwong Choi, RIEAEMBZREMA - 2EA L4 - FER
Mr. Chik To Pan and Mr. Wong Kwai Sang being the existing N4 NEE4ALEEAFE LXNBIRBREML
Directors longest in office since their last re-election, will retire by BEHEEZEE HESHEERILTE
rotation and being eligible offer themselves for re-election. BIRER-

No Director being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming ##R AR FEMEKREREFT RS FEREME
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract HWEFHEITI YR —FRAR AL EWE
which is not determinable by the Company and its subsidiaries A & T {ERE(E OXFE M ERR N BIR AT 4 1F
within one year without payment of compensation, other than HIRIEA 4 °

statutory compensation.

The Company has received, from each of Independent Non- #RIEEtRZATES EWMREI([EmARA]E
executive Director, a written annual confirmation of his 3.13/& XA GEWR K BIIEHITES
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the RARAZEHEBREBISMMNBFEE
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange. M - A AFIEZEZECREETERAM
The nomination committee of the Company and the Board BB M IFHITEEHABE -

considered that all Independent Non-executive Directors are

independent.

FERAAREEARAT —EB-AEFE 21§



SO -

»>

Report of the Directors

EETERES

4

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN EERBRSHTBA SR EH - #HEH
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES M RiEH 2

As at 30 June 2018, the interests and short positions held by each R-ZZ—-—NFXA=+H ARAEEF
Director and chief executive of the Company and their associates K& =ITHA B MK E 2 BE AR KR A
in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any st E(E M AEEAE (10F)(ExE R FH K
of its associated corporation, if any, (within the meaning of Part & &I ([ & % & 5 & {5 fl ) EXVEL) 2 ik
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"), as 10 HEARD X EH T EARIFE 5 K&
recorded in the resister required to be kept by the Company E1{&fIZE3521&AR R RIMFEE MR
under Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the #z@m REAE : SRE R BN+
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for LM #EITABZBSETELFR HMZESTH
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model  ([H2¥% 57 81| |) 78 &1 & A D &) M B <2 AT 2 4
Code”) contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as m&EEM T :

follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the RAATRGREBAKRBZRE

Company

Number of shares/underlying shares
held in the Company

FEAATRG ARk HE

Total interests
as t0% to the
issued share

Interest under capital as at

Capacity in which Interests in equity Total 30 June 2018

Name of Director interests are held shares  derivatives interests (Note)

RZB-AFE

AA=t+HER

. BEEE R

RIBRALTE BAZEDL

EEKE BAEERZHH fRintEsm ITRZER EREE (P &E)

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang Beneficial owner 187,500,000 16,942,817 204,442,817 10.04%
HEELEE EnEAA

Mr. Chung Siu Wah Beneficial owner = 16,942,817 16,942,917 0.83%
BOREELE ExnEAA

Mr. Chik To Pan Beneficial owner = 16,942,817 16,942,817 0.83%
L8 2 A EnEBA

Mr. Wong Po Keung Beneficial owner = 16,942,817 16,942,817 0.83%
=IRG8 5L & E=nEBA

Mr. Leung Kwong Choi Beneficial owner — 1,500,000 1,500,000 0.07%
RESEE EnEEA

Mr. Ong Chi King Beneficial owner — 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
T FREE EnEAA

Mr. Wong Kai Sang Beneficial owner = 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
HEEELE EnEAA

Mr. Heung Chi Hang, Eric Beneficial owner = 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
BEBERLE ExnEAA

Note: Hiat -

BFREASEE T —NFAA=THERRARBEET
A% 7X2,036,538, 114 A E & -

The percentage of shareholding was calculated on the basis of the Company’s
issued share capital of 2,036,538,114 shares as at 30 June 2018.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2018, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates had any other personal, family, corporate and other
interests or short positions in shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of a new
share option scheme on 11 November 2015 (the”2015 Share
Option Scheme”). The purpose of the 2015 Share Option Scheme
is to provide the Group with a flexible means of giving incentive
to, rewarding, remunerating and or providing benefits to the
eligible persons and to provide the eligible persons with all
opportunity to acquire a personal stake in the Group and to build
common objectives of the Group and the eligible persons for the
betterment of business and profitability of the Group and the
Shareholders as a whole. The 2015 Share Option Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from its adoption. An
ordinary resolution was passed at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 29 July 2016 to refresh the scheme mandate limit
under the 2015 Share Option Scheme. Based on 1,697,138,114
shares in issue of the Company as at the date of passing the
ordinary resolution, the Company can grant further options under
the 2015 Share Option Scheme for subscription of up to a total
of 169,713,811 shares, representing 10% of the shares in issue of
the Company as at the date of passing the ordinary resolution
and as at the date of this report. The details of the 2015 Share
Option Scheme and valuation of options are set out in Note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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The following table set out movements in the Company’s share

TEREIBBE-_ZS—AFERETEER
options granted under the 2015 Share Options Scheme during the :

2 A 2 B AR 2 E P

year:
Number of Share Options
BREYE
Exercise As at As at
Capacity Date of grant price Exercisable period 1July 2017  Granted Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed 30 June 2018
o RZS-tF - RZS- A%
5 BHAH fTiEE TEY tA-H CRE Bffff E##E ESX¥ H~A=+H
Executive Directors
BiTES
Yeung Chi Hang 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016 — 21 April 2026 14,142,817 — - — — 14,142,817
EE 5 FEA=TZH “T-REMA-t-RE
ZEZREMAZ+-H
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018 — 4 June 2028 2,800,000 - — — 2,800,000
—Z-\fXAAA :ﬁ—/\ﬁfxﬂﬂﬁé
—Z-\EXANA
Chung Siu Wah 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016 — 21 April 2026 14,142,817 - - - — 14142817
EDE “3-R"ENMAZTZA “T-RENA_t-RE
ZEZAEMAZT-H
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018 — 4 June 2028 2,800,000 — - - 2,800,000
“2-\%~AAH :sf—/\i/‘—\ﬂﬁﬁﬁ
—E-\EXANA
Chik To Pan 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016 — 21 April 2026 14,142,817 - - - — 14142817
HEH “E-AFEAZTCR “F-AFEA-4ZRE
“EZREMAZ+-A
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018 — 4 June 2028 2,800,000 = = = 2,800,000
“Z2-\Ex~A%A :?—/\E/‘_\Hﬁﬁi
ZZZ\FARAEA
Wong Po Keung 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016 — 21 April 2026 14,142,817 — - — — 14142817
ARA “E-A¥BAZtZH “Z-N¥BA-tZRE
ZEZREMAZ+-A
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018 — 4 June 2028 2,800,000 - — — 2,800,000
—Z-\fXAAA :Z—/\ﬁfxﬂﬂﬁé
2 \EXANA
Leung Kwong Choi 5 June 2018 0317 5 June 2018 — 4 June 2028 — 1,500,000 - - — 1,500,000
BEL —Z-\¥7A%A :?*/\iﬁﬂﬁﬁ%
—E-\EXANA
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUkRTES
Ong Chi King 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018 — 4 June 2028 — 1,000,000 - — — 1,000,000
EFH —Z-\fXAAA :Z—/\ﬁfxﬂﬂﬁé
2 \EXANA
Wong Kwai Sang 5 June 2018 0317 5 June 2018 — 4 June 2028 — 1,000,000 - - — 1,000,000
BB —Z-\¥7A%A :?*/\iﬁﬂﬁﬁ%
—E-\EXANA
Heung Chee Hang, Eric 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018 — 4 June 2028 — 1,000,000 - — = 1,000,000
HiE “Z-\Ex~AAA :?—/\Eﬁﬂﬂﬁ%
ZZZ\FRAMA
Employees and Others
BIRER
An employee 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016 — 21 April 2026 14,142,817 - — - — 14,142,817
BT “ET-A"EmA=1=A T RENA_t-RE
ZEZAERAZT-H
Employees and others 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018 — 4 June 2028 — 39,200,000 = = — 39,200,000
EIREM “Z2-\Ex~AAA :?—/\Eﬁﬂﬂﬁ%
ZZ-\FRAMA
70,714,085 54,900,000 = = — 125,614,085
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During the vyear, the closing price of the Company’s shares
immediately before the date of grant of the options was
HK$0.320.

As at 30 June 2018, options to subscribe for an aggregate of
125,614,085 shares of the Company were outstanding,
representing 6.17% of the shares in issue of the Company as at
the date of this report.

No option was exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2018, the following persons, other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company, were interested or had short
positions in more than 5% of shares and underlying shares of the
Company or its subsidiaries according to the register required to
be kept under Section 336 of the SFO as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the
Company

FR AR BEBRERE B2k
5 W T 18 50.320/8 7T °

R_E—NFRA=Z+TH AIREARQF
& $£125,614,0850% A% 1 z%h%%%ﬁ
AR RBIRAARE BH617%E BT

{/\ °

B M 0> %

IBE 4 S PR A O M AT A SRS SR o
TERRRIRY HERD RES
ZHELS

RIBE S5 R B IRDIFE336KMFEE M
RN _T-NFXRNA=1TH UTA
T(UEEAARAKRSTHRABESR
ARRHEMBRRZ KM REBRN5%
ANERRHEEWT :

REALBRBRERAKRGBZRE

Number of shares/underlying
shares held in the Company

FEFAs ke HEKRGEE

Capacity in which

Name of Shareholders interests are held Interest in shares

Total interest as to

% to the issued

share capital as at

Total interest 30 June 2018 (Note)

R-ZF—-N\%E

NA=THEREE

HEBT

BERZEAL

BRESZ BEERZSH B 15 #E 23 EREHE (Pif %)

Mr. Chu Ying Man Beneficial Owner 135,000,000 135,000,000 6.63%
RENEE EnEAA

Mr. Li Xiaowu Beneficial Owner 186,318,000 186,318,000 9.15%
PR EE EnEEA

Note: Kz -

The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the Company’s issued
share capital of 2,036,538,114 shares as at 30 June 2018.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no time during
the year, was the Company or any of its associated corporations a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of the Company or any other body corporate and none of the
Directors or their spouses or children under 18 years of age was
granted any right to subscribe for any shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any of its associated corporations.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into the following continuing connected
transactions which are subject to disclosure requirement in the
annual report under the Listing Rules:

On 6 July 2016, Harvest Top Development Limited, an indirect-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant, has entered
into the Tenancy Agreement with High Brand Limited as landlord,
in respect of the leasing of the Property for a term of 2 years
commencing from 1 August 2016 with a rental of HK$173,740
per month. As High Brand Limited is a company which is indirectly
owned as to 50% by Ms. Ma Shu Chin, mother of Mr. Yeung Chi
Hang, an executive Director, the Chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company and a substantial shareholder, High Brand
Limited is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules and the Tenancy Agreement constituted a continuing
connected transaction of the Company for the purpose of the
Listing Rules.

On 20 July 2018, Harvest Top Development Limited, an indirect-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant, has entered
into the Tenancy Agreement with High Brand Limited as landlord,
in respect of the leasing of the Property for a term of 2 years
commencing from 1 August 2018 with a rental of HK$176,295
per month. As High Brand Limited is a company which is indirectly
owned as to 50% by Ms. Ma Shu Chin, mother of Mr. Yeung Chi
Hang, an executive Director, the Chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company and a substantial shareholder, High Brand
Limited is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules and the Tenancy Agreement constituted a continuing
connected transaction of the Company for the purpose of the
Listing Rules.

26 China Environmental Resources Group Limited

ESRERGIBEHFZERN

B B PR 2 BT 8IS - A
ﬁ&ﬂﬁw&lﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁJiﬁﬂt
B BEERAREREAQRSEME
i 75 A B B8 2 B 1) 3K 18 75 i & X A a2
VEEIMESRERBREFRLE TR
ATz FLRERTEMBENARERRF
S E AR EBOEE 2 E AR RES -

FRERERXS

ARABDIZLNTHEBERS - HAE
SETRATRFERBEZRE -

NR-ZZE—RNFLtARNH AR vlZzHEHES
EWNBLAREASEERRAR (EAREF)
Aﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁﬂwwﬁ@aMﬁE%%J
VHEWE HHEB-_T—AE/\A—H
HRE HBETH173,7408 T - AR AR
RIMITES EERITHAHUAREER
HEEEAEZHERE L THEES
TEF AR A AIS0%ERE  BIE Em R A
EAERARAERARZBEAL M

ErRAMEEEHEBKARE —HE

BRERS -
i NEFELAZ+RH ARAHEESR

=z —
EBARBAERAERAR (EAEFE)
,%ﬂﬁ@ ‘Hﬁﬁ%IJJiﬂ 5 173
Z O ANREHEEME = = \EN
ﬂ Bt - BH2F - ﬂfﬁz%we,z%;‘%ﬁo
HRBABERARAARRRINITESE £
FERITHAEERETERRGETEBEEZE
BEREe L LTHEBEERS 0% Z A A BIE

ETRA - BABRAB/ARA L HEE
AL Mt EMRRME - HE HEEK
ARARZFHBEBERS -

2018 Annual Report



Report of the Directors
EEEREE

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the board of
directors engaged the auditor of the Company to carry out
assurance procedures in respect of the continuing connected
transactions of the Group in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on an Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)”Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has reported the conclusion to the
board of directors by confirming in a letter to the effect that
nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe that the
above transactions:

(1) have not been approved by the Board;

(2) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group;

(3) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreement governing the transactions; and

(4)  have exceeded the cap.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions and the report of the auditor
and have confirmed that the transactions have been entered by
the Group:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of the Group’s business;

(i) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favorable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Report of the Directors

EETERES

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 14A.72 OF THE LISTING RULES

The related party transaction relating to rental expenses disclosed
in Note 37(a) to the consolidated financial statements was a
connected transaction for which the disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been met and is mentioned
in the above paragraphs. Other related party transactions taken
place in financial year ended 30 June 2018 which were disclosed
in Note 37(a) and (b) to the consolidated financial statements did
not constitute connected transactions of the Company which are
required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “continuing connected
transaction”, no transactions, arrangement or contracts of
significance, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance, to which the Company or any its
subsidiaries was a party in which a Shareholder had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

The Board believes during the year ended 30 June 2018, the
Directors did not have interests in any businesses which compete
or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group.
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Report of the Directors

EETERES

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed
securities on the Stock Exchange.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2018, the Group had 49 employees (2017: 26
employees) in both Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group
implements remuneration policy, bonus and share options scheme
to ensure that pay scales of its employees are rewarded on a
performance-related basis within the general framework of the
Group’s remuneration.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group puts great emphasis on environmental protection and
sustainable development. The conscientious use of resources and
the adoption of best practices across the Group's businesses
underlie its commitment to safeguarding the environment. The
Group encourages environmental protection, complies with
environmental legislations and promotes awareness towards
environmental protection to its employees. Several measures have
been implemented by the Group in order to promote
environmental protection, including, among others:

(i)  promoting energy saving by encouraging its staff to switch
off all air-conditioners and lightings before leaving the
office, and to utilize the timer-control function of all air-
conditioning systems;

(i) reducing energy consumption by using energy-saving light
bulbs in the corridors and the reception area of its offices;

(iii)  promoting recycling by placing recycle bins next to printers
for collecting used papers for reusing and recycling
purposes, and by encouraging two-sided printing and/or the
use of scratch papers;

(iv) reducing the use of disposable products by, for example,
cancelling the distribution of plastic bags in office; and

(v)  reducing water consumption by replacing all water taps by
automatic faucets in offices.

The report of Environmental, Social and Governance of the Group
will be available at the HKEXnews website of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (www.hkexnews.hk), Singapore
Exchange Limited (www.sgx.com) and Company’s website (www.
cergroup.com.hk).
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Report of the Directors

EETERES

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2018 and up to the date of this
report, the Group have complied with all the relevant laws and
regulations in the Mainland China and Hong Kong that have a
significant impact on the Group.

DONATIONS

During the year,
donations.

the Group did not make any charitable

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme as disclosed in the Annual
Report, no equity-linked agreement was entered during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a
Director, in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal,
in which judgment is given in his favor, or in which he is
acquitted. The Company has taken out insurance against the
liability and costs associated with defending any proceedings
which may be brought against Directors of the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the sales to the Group's five largest
customers accounted for approximately 68.18% of the total sales
for the year and the sales to the largest customer included therein
amounted to 34.19%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 32.63% of the total
purchases for the year and the purchase from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 11.34%.

None of Directors, any of their associates or any substantial
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or five
largest suppliers.
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Report of the Directors

EETERES

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group’s management policies, working environment, career
prospects and employees’ benefits have contributed to building a
good employee relations and employee retention of the Group.
The Group offers competitive remuneration packages
commensurate with industry practice and provides various fringe
benefits to employees including medical benefits, social insurance,
provident funds, bonuses and a share option scheme. The
management regularly reviews its employee’s remuneration
packages to ensure they are up to prevailing market standard.

The Group keeps a high standard in selecting reputable and
reliable suppliers, in order to meet our own quality, safety,
environmental and product criteria. During the year ended
30 June 2018 and up to the date of this report, the Group
maintained good relationship with its suppliers. The Group has a
well-established business relationship with the customers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained
enough public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of Directors.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM PLACING AND CHANGE
IN USE OF PROCEEDS

The Group successfully raised over approximately HK$86.55 million
through the Placing Shares to not less than six independent Places
at the Placing Price of HK$0.255 per Placing Share on 6 April
2018 in order to enlarge capital base, strengthen the Group’s
financial position for future development and working capital
position. The Placing Price of HK$0.255 per Placing Share
represents (i) a discount of approximately 17.74% to the closing
price of HK$0.31 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on
12 March 2018, being the date of the Placing Agreement; and (ii)
a discount of approximately 19.56% to the average closing price
of HK$0.317 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the
five consecutive trading days up to and including 11 March 2018.
Upon the completion of the Placing, the Company received gross
proceeds of approximately HK$86.55 million and net proceeds
from the Placing, after deducting relevant expenses incurred in
relation to the Placing, amount to approximately HK$84.13
million.
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As disclosed

in the announcements of the Company dated
12 March 2018, 15 March 2018 and 6 April 2018 in relation to
the Placing (the “Announcements”), the Company intended to
apply the net proceeds of approximately HK$84.13 million from
the Placing as to (i) approximately HK$24.13 million for operating
expenses including salaries, office and shops rental expenses,
forest plantation maintenance fee and other office expenses for
one year (the “Operating Expenses”); (ii) approximately HK$5
million for the overdue payables (the “Overdue Payables”); (iii)
approximately HK$35 million for the purchase of inventories in the
next two months (the “Inventory Purchase”); and (iv)
approximately HK$20 million for the development of metal recycle
business in Hong Kong by September 2018 following the
establishment of Peak Environmental Resources Limited (=R (£
E %A A7) and Samuel Environmental Resources (Hong Kong)
Limited (R#ZEBRREZE(FEB)ER 2 F]) as disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 3 November 2017 (the
“Metal Recycle Business”).

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31 May
2018, the Group completed acquisition of the entire issued share
capital of Reward Pinnacle Limited (the “Target Company”) and all
the principal, interests and other sums and indebtedness and
amounts whatsoever due or owing or payable to the vendor by
the Target Company (the “Acquisition”).

In view of (i) the Group has yet identified suitable venue for the
Metal Recycle Business; (ii) the Acquisition will further reinforce
the Group’s strategy in diversifying its business portfolio by
tapping into the tea market of the People’s Republic of China
with the view to provide additional income stream for the Group;
(iii) the financial resources required by the Group to satisfy the
consideration of the Acquisition and the entering into of the
formal exclusive sale representative agreement by the Group with
the Target Company of approximately HK$24.1 million; (iv)
application of idle cash for grant of loans for the Group’s money
lending business (the “Money Lending Business”) will generate
higher interest income than depositing the same at banks; and (v)
to deploy the financial resources of the Group more efficiently,
the Board has resolved to change the use of net proceeds of
approximately HK$84.13 million of the Placing as follows:
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Original
allocation of
net proceeds

disclosed in the

allocation of

Utilized Unutilized
amount of amount of
Revised revised revised

allocation as at allocation as at

Announcements net proceeds 30 June 2018 30 June 2018

RZFB-N\E RIFE-N\F

ZEAMMIKE ~A=+HE®H RA=+HEX

ZREFMBRE KEITMERE R 15T L) R EH)

FEOE FEOE PEEE PEEH

HK$" million HK$' million HK$" million HK$" million

BEAT BEATL AEAT BEAT

(approximately)  (approximately)  (approximately)  (approximately)

(BE4) (B 4) (B 4) (BE4)

Operating Expenses HERY 24.13 10.62 5.62 5.00
Overdue Payables 8 HA e 1 SR8 5.00 3.50 3.50 —
Inventory Purchase FERE 35.00 28.01 28.01 —
Metal Recycle Business CEEKES 20.00 — — —
Money Lending Business & & ¥ 7% - 18.00 18.00 —
Acquisition WiEEE — 24.00 24.00 —
84.13 84.13 79.13 5.00

Based on the above, the Board considers that the above change in
the use of proceeds will allow the Company to facilitate efficient
use of its financial resources. The Board is of the view that the
change is fair and reasonable and is in the interest of the
Company and the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

As at 30 June 2018, the unutilized net proceeds of approximately
HK$5.0 million of the Placing was deposited in bank.

As at 30 June 2018, the Group has utilized the proceeds of
approximately HK$24.00 million for exclusive distribution rights to
sell and distribute golden flower tea products, approximately
HK$28.01 million for inventories of motor and motor accessories
business and recycled metals business and approximately
HK$18.00 million for money Lending business and the remaining
applied as general working capital.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2018 were audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited as auditors of the Company. A resolution will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-
appoint ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as auditors of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
Yeung Chi Hang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 September 2018
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Cor orate Governance Report

SR EARE

The Board is committed to maintain and ensure high standards of
corporate governance practice. The Company stresses the
importance of maintaining the quality of the Board by ensuring
that the Directors possess a wide range of expertise and the
effective implementation of an accountability system, so as to
ensure that business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper manner.

The Company has complied with the code provisions as set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rule Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) for the year ended
30 June 2018, except the followings:

Code provisions A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
chairman of the board and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. This code
provisions also stipulate, inter alia, the role and responsibility of
the chairman of the board and the chief executive.

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang was appointed as chairman of the Board and
the chief executive officer of the Company on 27 January 2015.
Thereafter, Mr. Yeung Chi Hang has assumed both roles. The
directors were of the view that the vesting of the roles of
chairman of the Board and chief executive officer in the same
person can provide the Group with strong and consistent
leadership and allow for more effective planning and execution of
long-term business strategies, as well as ensuring effective
oversight of management. The directors were also of the view that
the present structure was considered to be appropriate under the
circumstances of the Company. The Board would keep review of
its current board structure from time to time.

Code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman
of the board should attend the annual general meeting. Mr.
Yeung Chi Hang was unable to attend the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 8 November 2017 due to business trips.
Mr. Wong Po Keung, an executive director, was elected and acted
as chairman of the said annual general meeting.

THE BOARD
The Board is charged with the responsibility of leadership and

control of the Group. The Board promotes success of the Group
and makes decisions objectively in the best interests of the Group.
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The Board's role is mainly to direct and supervise the affairs of the
Group, establish its strategic directions and set objectives and
business development plans. The Board authorizes the
management to manage the day-to-day business operation of the
Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the various Board committees and the Chief
Executive Officer.

The Company has developed a schedule of matters reserved to the
Board for decisions. The Board will review those arrangements on
a regular basis to ensure that the arrangements meet the needs of
the Company.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises eight Directors with five Executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Yeung Chi Hang, Mr. Leung Kwong Choi, Mr. Wong
Po Keung, Mr. Chung Siu Wah and Mr. Chik To Pan and three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wong Kwai
Sang, Mr. Ong Chi King and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric. There
was no change in the composition of the Board during the year.

During the year, the Board held 9 meetings, including 4 regular
meetings, and had also transacted its business by written
resolutions. The Directors participated these meetings in person or
through electronic means of communication. The attendance of
Board meetings of each Director during the year is set out as
below:
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Name of Directors

Number of Board meetings
attended/Number of Board
meetings held
EHEEEEE: uu%i/
EETEEEFEHARY

EENE

Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang HEE L E
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi RETFHE
Mr. Wong Po Keung IR L HE
Mr. Chung Siu Wah @ REE &
Mr. Chik To Pan L8 X 5 A
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAKRITES
Mr. Ong Chi King FFEEE
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang mEAESLE
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BEfELEE

TERREREEERAR

5/9
7/9
9/9
8/9
9/9

9/9
7/9
6/9

—E-N\EFR

4 \“ W\i)
o



The Directors are provided with relevant information to make
informed decisions. The Board and each Director have separate
and independent access to the Company’s senior management for
information and making enquires if necessary. A Director, who
considers there is necessary to seek independent professional
advice in order to perform his duties as a Director, may convene,
or request the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) to convene, a Board meeting to approve the
consultation of independent legal or other professional adviser for
advice at the Company’s expenses.

For regular Board meeting, a notice of the meeting is sent to all
Directors at least 14 days before the intended date of meeting
and an agenda and accompanying board papers of the meeting
are sent to all Directors at least three days before the intended
date of meeting. For all other Board meeting, a notice of the
meeting together with an agenda and accompanying board papers
of the meeting are sent to all Directors in reasonable time. The
Directors also from time to time transact the Board business by
way of written resolutions.

Every Director is entitled to have access to the advice and service
of the Company Secretary with a view to ensure that the Board
procedures and applicable rules and regulations are complied
with.

All' minutes are kept by the Company and are open for
inspections by any Director during normal office hours by giving
reasonable advance notice. Minutes of the Board meetings and the
Board committee meetings record in sufficient details the matters
considered in the meetings and decisions reached. Draft and final
versions of minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee
meetings have been sent to all Directors and relevant Board
Committee members for their comments and records respectively
within a reasonable time after the relevant meetings were held.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter before the
Board, the matter will be dealt with in accordance with applicable
rules and regulations and, if appropriate, an independent board
committee will be set up to deal with the matter.

To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial,

business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s) between
the members of the Board.
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Every Director has sufficient time and attention to deal with the
affairs of the Group. The Board considers the composition of
Executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors is
rational and appropriate and provides adequate checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders and the
Group.

The Independent Non-executive Directors provide the Group with
diversified knowledge and expertise. Their suggestions, opinions
and participation in the meetings of the Board and each Board
committee bring independent opinions, suggestions and judgments
on issues relating to the Group’s strategy, development,
operations, performance, risk control and conflicts of interest, to
ensure that the interest of all shareholders are taken into account.

Information and responsibilities of all Directors are contained in
this annual report on pages 16 to 18.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer have
different roles. The Chairman of the Board is responsible for the
operation of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for managing the operations and day-to-day
management of the Group. Their functions have been clearly
divided to ensure a balanced distribution of power and authority
not concentrating on a single individual.

The Chairman of the Board is principally responsible for leading
the Board and ensures the Board acts in the best interests of the
Company. The Chairman of the Board shall ensure the Board
operates effectively and performs its proper duties and discusses
all important and proper matters in a timely manner. The
Chairman of the Board is responsible for convening Board
meetings, consulting, determining and approving the agenda of
each Board meeting, and ensuring that Directors are provided
sufficient information on current matters in a timely manner.

The Chief Executive Officer is principally responsible for the daily
operation and management of the Group’s overall operations and
implementing the Board’'s operating strategy and policy and
delegating tasks to all departments for implementation so as to
realize the Board’s objectives and decisions. In addition, the Chief
Executive Officer is also responsible for coordinating close
cooperation among all departments, uniting efforts of staff and
encouraging the initiative of staff so as to ensure smooth and
effective operation of the Company’s operations and systems.
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Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provide that the role of
chairman of the board and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. This code
provisions also stipulate, inter alia, the role and responsibility of
the chairman of the board and the chief executive.

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang was appointed as Chairman of the Board
and the chief executive officer of the Company 27 January 2015.
Thereafter, Mr. Yeung Chi Hang has therefore assumed both roles.
The Directors were of the view that the vesting of the roles of
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer in the same
person can provide the Group with strong and consistent
leadership and allow for more effective planning and execution of
long-term business strangles, as well as ensuring effective
oversight of management. The Directors were also of the view
that the present structure was considered to be appropriate under
the circumstances of the Company. The Board would keep review
of its current Board structure from time to time.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with the CG Code and the Articles of Association,
all Directors, including Independent Non-executive Directors, are
subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.

Composition of the Board will be reviewed regularly by the Board
and also by the nomination committee of the Company to ensure
that it covers a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.

Pursuant to the Article of Association, Mr. Leung Kwong Choi, Mr.
Chik To Pan and Mr. Wong Kwai Sang being the existing
Directors longest in office since their last re-election, will retire by
rotation and being eligible offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Each Director had entered into an appointment letter with the
Company setting out the key terms and conditions of his
appointment. The Directors are required to refer to the relevant
key terms and conditions as set out in the Articles and Association
and the gquidelines for Directors and Guide for Independent
Non-executive Directors (if applicable) published by the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors.

All Independent Non-executive Directors are appointed for a
specific term, subject to retirement by rotation under the Articles
of Association. The term of office of Mr. Wong Kwai Sang, Mr.
Ong Chi King and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric as Independent
Non-executive Director is for three years until 1 March 2021,
26 January 2020 and 15 January 2021 respectively.
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The Board has received from each Independent Non-executive
Director a written annual confirmation of his independence and is
satisfied with their independence in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all Independent Non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and are independent to the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with the term of references in accordance with the
Listing Rules. The Audit Committee currently comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ong Chi King
(Chairman), Mr. Wong Kwai Sang and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric.
Mr. Ong Chi King has appropriate accounting and related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10 of the Listing
Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee includes:

1. to recommend to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of resignation or
dismissal of such auditor;

2. to consider and discuss with the external auditor the nature
and scope of audit for each year;

3. to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity;

4. to review the interim and annual financial statements before
submission to the Board and to discuss any problem and
reservation arising therefrom;

5.  to review the Group's financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems; and

6.  to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.
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During the vyear, the Audit Committee had reviewed and
discussed, in accordance with its terms of reference, the financial
reporting matters with external auditor, including the review of
the interim and annual consolidated financial statements, the
internal control and the audit fee and made recommendation to
the Board for reappointment of external auditor.

During the year, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings. The
attendance of Audit Committee meetings of each member is set
out below:

FA -BERZEQCREEEESHERSI
BZEmMmER AT mUEHREEE BR
EHNTHARFESEEMBHREK - AEFEIE
RBEZEIREBIINERZBMAEEGIR
fa¥=3-

Name of the Audit Committee Members

Number of Audit Committee
meetings attended/

Number of Audit Committee
meetings held
EHESEREESETEAAE
EETEZESTEHRAY

BEZZEEEHENRSE

Mr. Ong Chi King FFARSE £
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang BEEALE
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BEELE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with the term of references in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Ong Chi King (Chairman), Mr. Wong Kwai Sang and
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee (as adopted
pursuant to the terms of references of the Remuneration
Committee) includes making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure of all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for development of remuneration

policy.

Set out below is the summary of work of the Remuneration
Committee done during the year:

1. to review the Company’s emolument policy and structure for
all Directors;

2. to review management’'s remuneration proposal with
reference to the corporate goals and objective of the Board;
and

3. to recommend the remuneration of individual Executive

Director and Independent Non-executive Director.
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During the year, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting.
The attendance of Remuneration Committee meeting of each
member is set out below:

FR- M?E@%ﬁ%@%°%ﬁ%ﬁ
f#ﬁ@ﬂ B 0

Name of Remuneration Committee
Members

FWEEERENS

Number of Remuneration
Committee meeting attended/
Number of Remuneration
Committee meeting held

EHFEHFNESSSHRE
EETHFWESEETHRRH

Mr. Ong Chi King FFaSESE
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang mEESLE
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BEELE

The Company’s emolument policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees, including Executive Directors
and the senior management, is based on the skills, knowledge,
responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s affairs. The
remuneration packages are also determined by reference to the
Company'’s performance and profitability, remuneration level in the
industry and the prevailing market conditions. The emolument
policy for Independent Non-executive Directors, mainly comprising
Directors’ fees, is subject to annual assessment with reference to
the market standard. Individual Director and the senior
management would not be involved in deciding their own
remuneration.

Details of emoluments of Directors and the five highest-paid
employees of the Group during the year are set out in Note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) with the term of references in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Ong Chi King (Chairman), Mr. Wong Kwai Sang and
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee includes review
of the structure, size and composition of the Board and board
diversity policy on a regular basis, assessing new candidates for
appointment as Directors and the independence of Independent
Non-executive Directors and considering the retirement and
re-election of the Directors.
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Set out below is the summary of work of the Nomination
Committee done during the year:

1. to assess the independence of each Independent
Non-executive Director;

2. to review the structure, size and composition of the Board;
and

3. to make the recommendation of re-election of retiring
Directors to the Board.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting. The
attendance of Nomination Committee meetings of each member is
set out below:
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Name of Nomination Committee

Number of Nomination
Committee meeting attended/
Number of Nomination

Members Committee meetings held
EHFEREEESTEHARE

REZEEHERSZ EETREZESEETHARE

Mr. Ong Chi King FFAREE 11

Mr. Wong Kwai Sang mEESLE 01

Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BEELE 1/1

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE REZEE

The Board has established an investment committee, which ZBEEE€DRKUKREZES HRKEBRE

currently comprises two Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Leung HERBHITESE B2 }?i??f‘ﬁi( ) &

Kwong Choi (Chairman) and Mr. Wong Po Keung. During the ER®BEL-FR ARAFINKREEZES

year, the investment committee of the Company had not held any 7 £ 1Tl & 5 -

meeting.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS EEEaREE

The Board has from time to time considered its policy for ZBEZE&TEHZEHD %E/m‘tﬁ( EREBE

corporate governance and its duties and duties of various board WUKRKEEZEEZLZE€H i%AIﬁW_L

committees. The Board has not established a corporate ©®XERZEE - 1E|EJ@TTT§|J

governance committee but has performed the obligations &Hf{f @ 8iF:

regarding corporate governance, including:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and directors;
and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14
(Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report) of the Listing Rules.

The Directors have disclosed to the Board the number and nature
of offices held in public companies or organizations and other
signification commitments. The Board will regularly review the
contribution required by each Director to perform his
responsibilities to the Company and whether he is spending
sufficient time performing his duties.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (“the Policy”)
which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on
the Board in order to maintain a competitive advantage of the
Board. Pursuant to Policy, the Company seeks to achieve board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to the talents, skills, regional and
industry experience, background, gender and other qualities. The
Board will from time to time consider to set measurable objectives
to implement the Policy and review such objectives to ensure their
appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards
achieving those objective. During the year, the Board has not set
any measurable objectives to implement the Policy.

TRAINING OF DIRECTORS

Newly appointed Director are provided with necessary information
to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities under the
relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The Company
Secretary and representative of auditor update the Directors on
the latest development and changes regarding the Listing Rules,
accounting standards and other relevant regulatory requirements
from time to time.

In addition, the Directors are provided with monthly updates on
the Company’s performance and position to enable the Board as
a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.
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All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. According to the records provided by the existing
Directors, all Directors have participated in continuous professional
development during the year.

ARRSBMAES2EFBEERER
A 3% R Jo 5B 3T 150 5 B RN Gk K BB o IRIRER
FTEFRENLE  2REFERFRZ
BRISEEERR -

Reading regulatory
updates/attending
in house briefing

Name of Directors

Attending expert
briefing/seminars/
conference relevant
to the business/
director’s duties

FEEE HEAHER =3
BRHNEH BENERENTE
EEHa SmABEEE RV L]
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang HEELE v —
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi RETRE v v
Mr. Wong Po Keung =ROR A& v v
Mr. Chung Siu Wah i D fEE & v v
Mr. Chik To Pan B 3B X 5 A v —
Mr. Ong Chi King FFHaEE v 4
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang =EEAELE v —
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BEEELEE v v
DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES ESREREENEERE

INSURANCE

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liabilities
insurance for all Directors and the senior management of the
Company. The insurance covers them against costs, charges,
expenses and liabilities incurred arising out of the corporate
activities.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Company’s
Code of Conduct regarding Director’'s securities transactions.
Having made specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 30 June 2018.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The board recognizes its overall responsibilities for maintaining a
sound and effective internal control system of the Group and risk
taking is unavoidable as part of the Group’s business. By
appropriate risk management and continuous risk monitoring, risk
taking can bring value to the Company. The board believes that
risks are acceptable after prudent assessment of their impact and
likelihood. The Company can protect its assets and shareholders’
interests and create value simultaneously through appropriate risks
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management and control measures. The system includes a defined
management structure with limits of authority, safeguards its
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensures the
maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or for publication,
and ensures compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The
system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The Group recognise that it is necessary for identifying and
assessing the significant business, operational, financial and
compliance risks on an ongoing basis. Risk identification and
assessment should be undertaken throughout the year, but in any
event must be undertaken on an annual basis by the Audit
Committee. Risk identification involves collecting information from
the senior management to identify relevant risks and then need to
update the risk register in response to changes in its business and
the external environment. Risk assessment should include the
review of (i) the timely and efficient management and reporting
the key risks; and (ii) any events, incidents or trends that have
arisen or might arise.

Risk evaluation and risk prioritization

Risk ranking process involves analysing the inherent likelihood and
impact of each identified risk in order to facilitate the senior
management to prioritise the identified risk items and identify the
responsible risk owners.

Risk reporting, managing and monitoring

Once the decision to mitigate the significant risk has been made
and the strategy is identified, a mitigation plan should be
developed. After the plan is implemented the residual risk is
evaluated and is subject to monitoring. Once the plan is in place
and the system is running, the effectiveness of the plan will be
monitored, reviewed and adjusted if necessary. The ongoing
monitoring program will be checked if risk priority numbers have
changed to either higher or lower values. All employees can write
down observations and to make recommendations. They can also
make a recommendation if the change should be implemented
urgently if it is time critical. The senior management evaluates the
recommendations made by the employees and reports to board in
timely manner.
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Procedures for the handling and dissemination of
inside information

The Group is committed to a consistent practice of time, accurate
and sufficiently detailed disclosure of material information. To
ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a
disclosure relation to the Group, which include but not limited by
the following ways:

1. When any employee becomes aware of any actual or potential
Inside Information, he/she must immediately inform any
member of the Disclosure Working Group comprising the
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Legal
Counsel.

2. Meeting of Disclosure Working Group shall be convened to
conduct preliminary assessment of the information received.

3.  The Disclosure Working Group reviews and decides whether
the information must be disclosed, as well as when and how
the information shall be released and makes
recommendation to the Board.

4.  The Board reviews the recommendation of the Disclosure
Working Group and approves the issue of an announcement
and any other course of course as appropriate.

Main features of the internal control system

A professional advisory firm was also appointed as the Group's
outsourced internal audit function to conduct a review on the
Group’s internal control systems at the corporate level and
business level on certain agreed control areas as stated in a three-
year internal control review plan to the management and
endorsed by the board and audit committee. The scope of the
internal control review carried out during the year includes:

a)  understand how a control procedure is carried out during the
period from 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018 through discussion
with the management, and reading relevant policies and
procedures;

b) consider and comment on whether a control procedure has
been designed and implemented effectively by determining
whether it exists at a specific point in time. This is achieved
by reading policies and procedures, reviewing minutes,
reports, organisational charts and other supporting
documentation, and by performing selected walkthrough and
tests of samples;

@) draw to the Company’s attention to any significant control
design and implementation weaknesses and deficiencies
which come to its attention based on the limited procedures
it agree to perform;
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d)  provide recommendations to address the identified control
design (in particular to corporate governance and cash
receipt handling policy) and implementation weaknesses and
deficiencies; and

e) perform a follow-up review after the Company has responded
to the findings stated in the Report. The final Report will be
issued after the follow-up procedures have been complete.
The report and recommendations have been submitted to
the board and follow-up action has been taken based on
recommendations, which will be monitored by the board.

The audit committee reviewed adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programmes
and budget.

The board’s confirmation on risk management

Based on the risk management mechanism and internal audit
review activities mentioned in the aforesaid paragraphs, the board
was of the opinion that the Company had maintained an effective
risk management mechanism and internal control system during
the financial year ended 30 June 2018.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is Mr. Lo Tai On who has been engaged
and appointed by the Company from an external secretarial
services provider.

The primary contact persons with the Company Secretary are Mr.
Wong Po Keung, an Executive Director and the financial controller
of the Company, and Ms. Leung Siu Hing, a senior officer of the
Company. The Company Secretary has duly complied with the
relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements for each financial year which give
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group in
presenting the interim and annual consolidated financial
statements and announcements to the Shareholders. The Directors
aim to present a clear and understandable assessment of the
Group’s position and prospects.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to present a clear and
understandable assessment in the Company’s annual and interim
reports, other insider information announcements and other
financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules and to report
to the regulators.
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The responsibility of the external auditor with respect to the
financial reporting and its audit opinion are set out in the section
“Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 52 to 55.

REMUNERATION OF THE AUDITOR

For the year, the remuneration in respect of audit services
provided by auditor of the Company, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited, was HK$950,000.

The non-audit service provided by auditor of the Company is
detailed as follows:

BREIMNEZ BB B S E A E A R A&
22 RN FE52E558 1 [ B L% HA R

&l

1 S5 Bl B =

FLANF R - KR R AR BED P TR %0 & 5 AD
EHMBARARRHKEBARTOME S
950,000/ JT °

RRABIZEMIREAIEET R H BN
T

HK$
BT

Review service for the interim results for the MEBEE_ZE—tF+_A=+—8HI1
six months ended 31 December 2017 NE B R R EE A R E R RS 198,000

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
the Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is
disseminated to the Shareholders in a timely manner through a
number of formal channels, which include interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars.

The general meetings of the Company are valuable forum for the
Board to communicate directly with the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”). The Shareholders are encouraged
to attend the general meetings of the Company.

An annual general meeting of the Company was held on
8 November 2017 (the “2017 AGM"). A notice convening the
2017 AGM contained in a circular of the Company dated
10 October 2017 was dispatched to the Shareholders together
with the 2017 Annual Report.

As Mr. Yeung Chi Hang was unable to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 8 November 2017 due to
business trips. Mr. Wong Po Keung, an Executive Director, was
elected and acted as Chairman of the 2017 AGM. He together
with the board committees members attended the 2017 AGM to
answer the questions from the Shareholders. The Chairman of the
2017 AGM explained detailed procedures for conducting a poll. All
the resolutions proposed at the 2017 AGM were passed by the
Shareholders by way of poll. The results of the poll were
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange, the Singapore
Stock Exchange and the Company on 8 November 2017.
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The attendance of general meetings held during the year of each
Director is set out below:

BEFTHEFRNETZERRENERLE
IR

Name of Directors

Number of general meetings
attended/Number of general
meetings held

EHEBRRXERE
EEHa EETHREXERY
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang BEEEE 01
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi REATE 11
Mr. Wong Po Keung e 1/1
Mr. Chung Siu Wah B RESE 0/1
Mr. Chik To Pan R 38 R 5 A 0/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BIUAKRITES
Mr. Ong Chi King FFEEE 0/1
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang mEESLE 7
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BAEELE 01

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be
held on 12 November 2018 (the “2018 AGM"). A notice
convening 2018 AGM will be published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange, the Singapore Stock Exchange and the Company
and dispatched together with the 2018 Annual Report to the
Shareholders as soon as practicable in accordance with the Article
of Association and the CG Code.

During the year, there was no change in the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’" RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
at such place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”). Set out below are
procedures by which Shareholders may (a) convene an EGM; (b)
put forward enquires to the Board; and (c) put forward proposals
at general meetings. The procedures are subject to the Articles of
Association and applicable legislation and regulation.

— Procedures for Shareholders to convene EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
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Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition.

The written requisition must state the business to be
transacted at the meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and
deposited at the Company’s registered office (with a copy of
the said written requisition deposited at the Company’s
Hong Kong office) for the attention of the Board or the
Company Secretary, and may consist of several documents in
like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists. The
requisition will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrars in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Company
Secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM by serving
sufficient notice in accordance with the requirements under
the Articles of Association to all the registered Shareholders.
On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as
invalid, the requisitionist(s) will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, an EGM will not be convened as requested.

If within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of
the requisition the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s), may convene a meeting in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The notice period to be given to all the registered
Shareholders for consideration of the proposal raised by the
requisitionist(s) concerned at the EGM varies according to the
nature of the proposal, as follows:

—  Not less than 14 clear days’ and not less than 10 clear
business days’ notice in writing if the proposal
constitutes an ordinary resolution of the Company;
and

—  Not less than 21 clear days’ and not less than 10 clear
business days’ notice in writing if the proposal
constitutes a special resolution of the Company.

Procedures for putting enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the Board.
All enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong or
by email to info@cergroup.com.hk for the attention of the
Board.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at
general meetings

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the
Company, a Shareholder should lodge a written request,
duly signed by the Shareholder concerned, setting out the
proposals at the Company's registered office (with a copy of
the said written request lodged at the Company’s Hong
Kong office) for the attention of the Board and the
Company Secretary. The request will be verified with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and upon
its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
Company Secretary will pass the request to the Board.

Whether a proposal will be put to a general meeting will be
decided by the Board in its discretion, unless the proposal
put forward by a Shareholder is (i) pursuant to a requisition
by a Shareholder to convene an EGM referred to above or
(ii) forms part of ordinary business to be considered at an
annual general meeting as described in Article 75 of the
Articles of Association.

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as Director are posted on the Company’s website at
http://www.cergroup.com.hk.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED
FEHREEREEFTRAT

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Environmental Resources Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 56 to 127, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 30 June 2018, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 30 June 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. We have determined the matters described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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Investment properties and biological assets
Refer to notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group measured its investment properties and biological
assets at fair value and fair value less costs to sell, respectively,
with the changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. These
fair value measurements are significant to our audit because the
balances of investment properties of HK$277,866,000 and
biological assets of HK$348,933,000 as at 30 June 2018 and the
corresponding gain from changes in fair value of HK$7,954,000
and loss from changes in fair value less costs to sell of
HK$174,687,000 for the year then ended are material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s fair
value measurements involve application of judgements and are
based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuers engaged by client;

—  Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with the
external valuers to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to support
significant judgements and assumptions applied in the
valuation model;

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence;

—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model; and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in the
consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s fair value measurements of the
investment properties and biological assets are supported by the
available evidence.

Intangible assets
Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of intangible assets for impairment.
This impairment test is significant to our audit because the
balance of intangible assets of HK$125,760,000 as at 30 June
2018 is material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group’s impairment test involve application of
judgement and is based on assumptions and estimates.
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Our audit procedures included, among others:
—  Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment;

—  Obtaining and checking to evidence to support the Group’s
impairment assessment;

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuer engaged by client;

—  Obtaining the external valuation report and meeting with the
external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to support
significant judgements and assumptions applied in the
valuation model;

—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model; and

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for intangible assets
is supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’'s report thereon. The other information is
expected to be made available to us after the date of this
auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's
website at:

http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/standards/
auditing-assurance/auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Sze Lin Tang

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P03614

Hong Kong, 28 September 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEeBEBEREMEZEKER

For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

2018 2017
—EB-N\E§ —E—1F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B &t TFHET FATT
(Restated)
(F&E35))
Revenue i 25 8 212,276 13,971
Cost of sales iR (192,973) (6,755)
Gross profit EH 19,303 7,216
Other income H I A 10 2,302 6,677
Administrative and operating THREERE
expenses (60,624) (37,811)
Net loss on fair value changes on R AAREAEZ 22 &l
financial assets at fair value BEZARBEESH
through profit or loss &5 18 % 58 (164) (949)
Fair value gain on investment KEMEZ R BERE
properties 18 7,954 14,938
(Loss)/gain on disposals of TEHRBRARZ(EE),/
subsidiaries K 25 32(b) 11) 17
Gain on deregistration of B A A 2 W s
subsidiaries 33 2,558 4,864
Loss arising from changes in fair EMEERRBEZEER
value less costs to sell of HERAREE 2R
biological assets 19 (174,687) (33,233)
Loss on settlement of promissory EEAHLZEREE
note 29 (1,144) —
Loss from operations HEEHR (204,513) (38,281)
Finance costs A& K AR 11 (548) (161)
Loss before tax B % mi 5 18 (205,061) (38,442)
Income tax credit FriS i % 12 44,475 9,238
Loss for the year EEBR 13 (160,586) (29,204)
Other comprehensive income/ REEEBEEIE
(loss) after tax: (E518) :
Items that may be reclassified to AREEF P EE R 2
profit or loss: HEH
Exchange differences on translation & /& IN T 2 [E 5 =5
of foreign operations 17,791 (6,852)
Release of translation reserve upon 8 — E/EINHE A A&
deregistration of a foreign s e N
subsidiary 39 —
Other comprehensive income/ FREMBEZERE (BE)
(loss) for the year, net of tax (Br#i18) 17,830 (6,852)
Total comprehensive loss for the FEEZ2EEEEEE
year (142,756) (36,056)
Loss for the year attributable to: T35 A FE{5F EE1E :
Owners of the Company ZIN/NICTE? P =N (159,784) (27,673)
Non-controlling interests FE 12 iR 7 (802) (1,531)
(160,586) (29,204)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

ReREkEMGEARER

For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

2018 2017
—EB-N\E§ —E—1F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
i i FHET FHET
(Restated)
(geE5)
Total comprehensive loss for the T3 A T FE{EEE 2R HEE
year attributable to: B4
Owners of the Company KRARIER A (142,235) (34,582)
Non-controlling interests FE 12 iR (521) (1,474)
(142,756) (36,056)
Loss per share BREBRE 15
Basic (HK cents per share) HEAR(FRREM) (9) (2)
Diluted (HK cents per share) #5E (B 9) (2)

hEIREEAREBBR AR ZETE—INEFHR 57
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B IR &

Asat 30 June 2018 R=ZE—N\FA=1+H

‘58

30 June 2018 30 June 2017 1 July 2016
—¥-N\E —_Z—+F —E-RF
~A=+H NA=+H t+tHA—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
o3 F#ET TET F& T
(Restated) (Restated)
(E7) (&= &E75)
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and M- BEREE
equipment 17 14,082 4,087 5,765
Investment properties &Y% 18 277,866 267,592 171,000
Biological assets EYEE 19 348,933 506,022 547,224
Intangible assets mEEE 20 125,760 103,635 110,011
Goodwill EES 21 1,087 1,087 1,087
767,728 882,423 835,087
Current assets RHBEE
Inventories "E 22 40,152 13,356 8,576
Trade and other receivables & U BR 7k K2 £ fib & Ui
RIE 23 60,183 28,602 22,051
Loans receivable e W & 3k 24 25,646 25,899 13,072
Financial assets at fair value AR ETAERZ
through profit or loss EREE 25 1,098 1,264 5,433
Refundable secured deposit AIREE HIFL ¢ 26 12,000 70,000 70,000
Cash and cash equivalents BeMERIRLIER 13,027 13,015 81,359
152,106 152,136 200,491
Current liabilities REERE
Trade and other payables JE 11 BR 3R R L fth JIE 5T
RIE 27 23,016 17,153 9,258
Current tax liabilities mEHIEBEE 1,202 3,460 7,976
24,218 20,613 17,234
Net current assets REEEFHE 127,888 131,523 183,257
Total assets less current ZEAFEBRIHERE
liabilities 895,616 1,013,946 1,018,344
Non-current liabilities ERBDER
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIEAR 28 112,661 152,414 164,324
Promissory note B 29 — 28,881 —
112,661 181,295 164,324
NET ASSETS BEFE 782,955 832,651 854,020

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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As at 30 June 2018

RZZE—-N\FA=+H

30 June 2018 30 June 2017 1 July 2016
—E-N\E —E—tF —E—RF
~A=+H NA=1H +H—H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
k3 TFERT THT FHT
(Restated) (Restated)
(& =7) (&= 7)
Capital and reserves BEXRGEE

Share capital fi& < 30 40,731 33,943 33,943
Reserves G 729,811 785,781 820,363

Equity attributable to owners ZAN2A RIH#EH A FEAS
of the Company ¥E 75 770,542 819,724 854,306
Non-controlling interests I 12 f% = 12,413 12,927 (286)
TOTAL EQUITY EmuE 782,955 832,651 854,020

FSENTEMEBGAMBRRIKESTS
RZZE—NFNALAZTN\BHAE R ES
T YHATEERRESTERE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 56 to 127 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
28 September 2018 and are signed on its behalf by:

Yeung Chi Hang Leung Kwong Choi

BEIE REAX
Director Director
EZE =
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEERBEX

For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAEEAERS
Foreign
Share Share-based currency Non-
Share premium Statutory  Capital  compensation translation  Accumulated controlling
capital  account  reserve  reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
0 RH#Me SELBR K
BRA RER ETEHB RAHE f#1E &1 2 ER e i ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TEr Tz ThEx TiEx TRT FHT TAT THEx TRAT TAEx
At 1 July 2016 RZE-RF
+tA-H 33943 1,133,156 5407 76 6923 44,49 (406,348) 817,653 (286) 817,367
Effect of changes in S HRED

accounting policies -2 = = = = = = 36,653 36,653 — 36,653
At 1 July 2016 R-B—~%

(restated) +A—H

(B E51) 33,943 1,133,156 5,407 76 6,923 44,496 (369,695) 854,306 (286) 854,020
Total comprehensive FE2ABRASE

loss for the year (g =750)

(restated) - - - - - (6,909) (27,673)  (34,582) (1,474)  (36,056)
Disposal of subsidiaries i & 18 2 Al = = = = = = = = 7 7
Acquisition of assets hEEE = = = = = = = = 14,680 14,680
At 30 June 2017 RZE—+F

(restated) ~NAB=1H

(= E31) 33,943 1,133,156 5,407 76 6,923 37,587 (397,368) 819,724 12,927 832,651
At 1 July 2017 R-2—+%
(restated) +A—H
(B =351) 33,943 1,133,156 5,407 76 6,923 37,587 (397,368) 819,724 12,927 832,651
Total comprehensive FREZABRAR

loss for the year — — — — — 17,549 (159,784) (142,235) (521) (142,756)
Disposal of subsidiaries i & 7 & 2 &) - - - - — - — — 7 7
Recognition of ERNEREER

equity-settled PARRfD R B

share-based OES

payments — — — — 8,920 - - 8,920 - 8,920
Placing of new shares &5 A% (Fi#30)

(note 30) 6,788 77,345 — — — — — 84,133 — 84,133
At 30 June 2018 RZE-N\F

A~NA=TH 40,731 1,210,501 5,407 76 15,843 55,136 (557,152) 770,542 12,413 782,955

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GEHETRE

For the year ended 30 June 2018 #EHZZ=Z

—NEFERA=ZTHLEFE

2018 2017
—EB-N\E§ —+F
HK$'000 HK$000
TFHET FAT
(Restated)
(F&E35)
Cash flows from operating HETHRMBHRER
activities
Loss before tax B % B & 1R (205,061) (38,442)
Adjustments for: BRI SEAE
Depreciation e 3,276 1,893
Finance costs Bl & KR 548 161
Interest income from refundable MRESEFZESHE
secured deposit WA (2,000) (5,830)
Gain on disposals of property, LEME  BE KK
plant and equipment 2 Wz 7 —
Loss on write-off of property, WD BE K&
plant and equipment el F | — 11
Amortisation of intangible assets | A EEH 5,125 4,793
Net loss on fair value changes on AR EF AEZR 2 &
financial assets at fair value MEEAABEEH 2
through profit or loss &5 18 % 5 164 949
Fair value gain on investment WEYFEZ A ENE=E
properties (7,954) (14,938)
Gain on deregistration of ERak il = /N Bl e
subsidiaries (2,558) (4,864)
Loss/(gain) on disposals of HERBARZEE/
subsidiaries (U 2= 1 (17)
Loss arising from changes in fair EMBEERARBEZER
value less costs to sell of HEKANELEZEE
biological assets 174,687 33,233
Equity-settled share-based DHESEEURD AR
payments T8 At ﬁﬁ\ 8,920 —
Loss on settlement of promissory HEARLERZERE
note 1,144 —
Operating loss before working LEESBEA L KE
capital changes ! (23,705) (23,051)
Change in inventories FEZ% (26,796) (4,780)
Change in trade and other JE L BR SR B L At & WS SR
receivables TH 5 (31,662) (6,551)
Change in loans receivable U B F &) 253 (12,827)
Change in financial assets at fair BRAREFABRZE
value through profit or loss mEES 2 3,220
Change in trade and other JRE ST BR R B2 L b JiE 5 K
payables 15 “@J 5,805 445
Cash used in operations KEMAR S (76,104) (43,544)
Income tax (paid)/refunded (B BREFMSFH (161) 60
Interest income from refundable AREEEFZESFE
secured deposit N 2,000 5,830
Interests paid 213 F & (573) =
Net cash used in operating CEETHMARSFSHE
activities (74,838) (37,654)
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 & ZE_—F

—NFERA=Z+THLFE

2018 2017
—EB-N\E§ —+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FATT
(Restated)
(F&E35))
Cash flows from investing BEEHMBRERA
activities
Purchase of property, plant and BEWME BEKEE
equipment (13,305) (223)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE BELEEZ
plant and equipment Fr 1S 5K 38 216 —
Purchase of intangible assets BEEETLEE (24,115) —
Refund of deposit paid in relation to REWKE—FHRNEARE
acquisition of a subsidiary k& 58,000 =
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B M 8 R A — (30,496)
Net cash outflow arising from TEMBARIEACZES
disposal of subsidiaries % FE (2) —
Net cash generated from/ BREEEFRE (AR
(used in) investing activities &£FHE 20,794 (30,719)
Cash flows from financing RS EERBRER
activities
Proceeds from borrowings B EFT1RKIE 25,000 —
Repayment of borrowings %‘iﬁ B (25,000) —
Repayment of promissory note BEALER (30,000) —
Net proceeds from the placing of  E2& ¥ & 2 FT1S 3B )F &
new shares 84,133 =
Net cash generated from REEHMBREFESE
financing activities 54,133 —
Net increase/(decrease) in cash e RZERIRLIEHE
and cash equivalents GRD)FEE 89 (68,373)
Effect of foreign exchange rate SN FEE S B ) 52 &
changes (77) 29
Cash and cash equivalents at FUzRekERRS
beginning of year 18 H 13,015 81,359
Cash and cash equivalents at end R ZRERERREE
of year HH 13,027 13,015
Analysis of cash and cash WeRZERARLERSH
equivalents
Bank and cash balances 1T R © E R 13,027 13,015
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a5 BB AR MY R

For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Environmental Resources Group Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is
Ugland House, South Church Street, P.O. Box 309, George
Town, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands, British West Indies.
The address of its principal place of business is 2811, 28/F
West Tower Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) and Singapore Exchange Limited.

During the year, the Company’s principal activity is
investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries
are set out in note 38. The Company and its subsidiaries
hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 July 2017. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standard, and
Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised
HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to the Group's
accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for
the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has
already commenced an assessment of the impact of these
new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state
whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have a
material impact on its results of operations and financial
position.
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of biological assets, which are carried at their fair
values less costs to sell; and investment properties and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are
carried at their fair values. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"”) and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors of
the Company to exercise their judgements in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical
judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to these consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
30 June. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity
when the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Consolidation (Continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement
of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between
the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination. The
cost of acquisition is measured at the acquisition-date fair
value of the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities
incurred and contingent consideration. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the
costs are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are
measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is
attributed to the Company.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
it might be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. The method of measuring
impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of other
assets as stated in the accounting policy below. Impairment
losses of goodwill are recognised in profit or loss and are
not subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition for the purpose of impairment
testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.

Foreign currency translation

(@) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the group entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation
currency.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. BUREEREXEHHRE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation (Continued) MBS EE R (4])

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial (b) BEEBUMBERRAZXIREG
statements 53
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into IELXZRBEBRNERRBIER S
the functional currency on initial recognition using the AeBTEXRTE AR
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates. B oWNBHBELEREER
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are BERSEWMARZEZRN
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each B TEBREME+ 2 K
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this REBRBERABER -
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in LASNEE 2 A R EEFE M EE
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange BR DNEAREEAAES
rates at the dates when the fair values are HZBERETHIR-
determined.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is EFERIER 2 WmkEBER
recognised in other comprehensive income, any Hh2mEIABRE - &K=
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised SR 2 AT R ARRER 5
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss Hih 2 AW ARER - EFE
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, BIEE 2 WEsEERNEE T
any exchange component of that gain or loss is BR - Z W EE 2 EME
recognised in profit or loss. HAKE I NIEEFER -

(c) Translation on consolidation () NEEIRERRIR

The results and financial position of all the group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Group’s presentation currency are translated into
the Group’s presentation currency as follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case incomes and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

(i) All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve.
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 & ZE_—F

—NFERA=Z+THLFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’'s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their costs less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
The principal annual rate is as follows:

Over the shorter of 20%—
33% or the remaining
unexpired terms of the
leases

19%-33%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and

equipment
Cruiser 30%
Motor vehicles 30%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in profit or loss.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties
are measured initially at their cost including all direct costs
attributable to the properties.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at
its fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair
value of the investment property are recognised in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the property, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for
as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Lease payments (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Intangible assets

(a) Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
and recognised separately from goodwill are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are measured at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of 30 years.
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (Continued)

(b) Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the assets’ estimated useful lives of 30.6 years.

Biological assets

A biological asset is defined as a living plant managed by
the Group which is involved in the agricultural activity of the
transformation of biological assets for sale, into agricultural
produce, or into additional biological assets.

Biological assets comprise standing timbers in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), which are stated at fair value
less costs to sell at initial recognition and at the end of each
reporting period. The gain or loss arising on initial
recognition, and subsequent change in fair values less costs
to sell of biological assets is recognised in profit or loss in
the reporting period in which it arises. Costs to sell are the
incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an
asset, excluding finance costs and taxes. Standing timber is
transferred to inventory at its fair value less costs to sell at
the date of harvest.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out basis for
motor vehicles. Cost is determined using the weighted
average basis for recycled metals and accessories of motor
vehicles. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of all production overhead expenditure, and
where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights
to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’'s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investments

Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an investment is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment
within the timeframe established by the market concerned,
and are initially measured at fair value, plus directly
attributable transaction costs except in the case of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are either
investments classified as held for trading or designated as at
fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition.
These investments are subsequently measured at fair value.
Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of these
investments are recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Trade, loans and other receivables

Trade, loans and other receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market and are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment. An allowance for impairment of trade, loans and
other receivables is established when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.
The amount of the allowance is the difference between the
receivables’ carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition. The amount of
the allowance is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods and
recognised in profit or loss when an increase in the
receivables’ recoverable amount can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the
receivables at the date the impairment is reversed shall not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and is recognised when it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Revenue from the sales of recycled metals, motor vehicles
and related accessories are recognised on transfer of
significant risks and rewards of ownership, which generally
coincides with the time when the goods are delivered and
the title has passed to the customers.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Commission income is recognised when the services are
rendered.

Employee benefits

(@) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave and long service leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(b) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the Group
and employees are calculated as a percentage of
employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(c) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by
applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group
that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 & ZE_—F

—NEFERA=ZTHLEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to directors and employees

The fair value of services received is determined by reference
to the fair value of the share options granted at the grant
date and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share-based compensation reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share-based
compensation reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share-based compensation
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model of the
Group whose business objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale. If the
presumption is rebutted, deferred tax for such investment
properties are measured based on the expected manner as to
how the properties will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.

(B)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Company are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

(vii) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

RUEEREXETER(E)

FEANL
MEALREAKEABENREAR

-

(A) MEATAL BZALHZ
A2 REAEE A

iy HEHHEREHAEE:
(iy HBAKEEERTE X

(i) BARBHARFFRF
WEIBEHREKE -

(B) ﬁfATWEﬁM# BE g8

BR S E A R

(i) ZERRAQFTBR-%
BzRERA(NEHR
G =N E e
NARUEFEE) -

iy —FAERAZ —ERBNK
ERAIRBELE(XS
—ERAKERFIZEH
TR EB AR ZHZE R
FEERE) -

(i) MEAERHB/RA—F=7
MEERE-

vy —REB/E=ZTEEN
BEME ME—EBEER
ZEZNERNBERQ
E—JO

vy ER/AKENELKH
BREZERNER M
AR A7 H BfE B AR A 5t 8l o e
AEBEATERZETE
RUEPHEETEALE
EARHE

(vi) EBIAMBBALE
i 3 & S RAE S o

(i) RAA))FTRERIA TH E 88
BEEAFENSEZTE
(ZEENERA)EE
BIEEKE -

F 525 TRRFEEREBARAGR Z—T—NEFEFRH 77
‘ A“ ‘& A£“ 4



For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)
(B) (Continued)

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets except biological assets,
investment properties and goodwill to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit (“CGU") to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation increase.
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes when material.

SUMMARY OF THE IMPACT OF CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group accounted for investment properties using the
cost model in previous years. In order to more accurately
reflect the value of the investment properties held by the
Group and provide more relevant information to the users of
the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company have approved changes in the accounting policies
of the Group for the investment properties from cost model
to fair value model during the current year. The Group has
adopted the change in accounting policies of investment
properties retrospectively.
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SUMMARY OF THE IMPACT OF CHANGES IN 4.

EFE

IIIEE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The effects of the changes in the Group’

s accounting

i

HEZHMEE)

LA SR B @St BOR S B HBEF K

policies described above on the results for the preceding R EakAME2EKaRE
year by line items presented in the consolidated statement BIZEEHIIMT -

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are as

follows:

2017
—T—tE
HK$'000
FHET
Impact on total comprehensive loss EATBEANELEZEEEESE
attributable to owners of the Company e
Decrease in administrative expenses 17 B 7 2R 4 4,854
Fair value gains B 15,750
Increase in exchange differences on translation 8 /8 5h 275 2 [E & 2= 2512 1N
of foreign operations 154
Net decrease in total comprehensive loss KRARBEE AEAG 2 HEE B
attributable to owners of the Company F 20,758
Impact on total comprehensive loss FERESEREZEGEAERE
attributable to non-controlling interests
Decrease in administrative expenses THREAZ R 91
Fair value losses AR EEE (812)
Increase in exchange differences on translation 2 & & 4h 2 75 2 [E X, 2= 5838 A1
of foreign operations 57
Net increase in total comprehensive loss ERESEEEZABERSE
attributable to non-controlling interests 3 hnF R (664)
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF THE IMPACT OF CHANGES IN 4, EtBFEEHHEZHME(E)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

e BRREHUAEER_F
—+ERAZTHRZZE-—XRELA
—HZHBRRZEEDT

The effects of the changes in accounting policies described
above on the financial positions of the Group as at 30 June
2017 and 1 July 2016 are as follows:

Adjustments
arising from
changes in
As the
previously accounting
reported policies As restated
BH B KL .
KE 2R EAEZRAE HEY
At 30 June 2017 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZE—+FHA=1H T8 FB T FET
Investment properties REYHE 210,845 56,747 267,592
Total effects on net assets BEFEETE 210,845 56,747 267,592
Accumulated losses REtER (454,625) 57,257 (397,368)
Non-controlling interest I 12 % = 13,591 (664) 12,927
Foreign currency translation HNEE H A (5
reserve 37,433 154 37,587
Total effects on equity Han B (403,601) 56,747 (346,854)
Adjustments
arising from
changes in
As the
previously accounting
reported policies As restated
Bt BURE S
KH 2R EAEZAE HET
At 1 July 2016 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
RZE—R"FE+tH—H FATT FAT FAT
Investment properties wEYHE 134,347 36,653 171,000
Total effects on net assets BEFERATE 134,347 36,653 171,000
Accumulated losses 2 ER (406,348) 36,653 (369,695)
Total effects on equity B (406,348) 36,653 (369,695)
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SUMMARY OF THE IMPACT OF CHANGES IN 4. EilBFEEHLEZHME(E)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2017
—E—tf
HK cents
P& {1
Impact on basic and diluted loss per share EBREAREHRE
Basic and diluted loss per share before ARNERERNREEEE
adjustments (2.84)
Adjustments arising from changes in SR BREHELE ZFHE
accounting policies 1.21
Reported basic and diluted loss per share Sl GRERLEEEE (1.63)

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Fair value less costs to sell of biological assets and
fair value of investment properties
The Group appointed independent professional valuers
to assess the fair value less costs to sell of biological
assets and fair value of investment properties. In
determining the fair values, the valuers have utilised a
method of valuation which involves certain estimates.
The directors have exercised their judgement and are
satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of
the current market conditions.

(b) Impairment of intangible assets
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for intangible assets at the end of each
reporting period. Such assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. To calculate
the fair value less costs of disposal, the management
estimates the expected future cash flows from the
assets or CGU and chooses a suitable discount rate in
order to derive the present value of those cash flows.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2018 Annual Report
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
and residual values of property, plant and equipment
of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise
the depreciation charge where useful lives and residual
values are different to those previously estimated, or it
will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and
doubtful debts based on assessments of the
recoverability of its trade, loans and other receivables,
including the current creditworthiness, collateral
security, financial condition and past collection history
of each debtor. Impairments arise where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances
may not be collectible. The identification of bad and
doubtful debts requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the actual result is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of the trade, loans and other receivables
and doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such
estimate has been changed. If the financial conditions
of the debtors were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments,
additional allowances may be required.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant estimates are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5.

(CONTINUED)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(f) Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and selling expense.
These estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical experience of
manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of changes in
customer taste and competitor actions. The Group will
reassess the estimates by the end of each reporting
period.

FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS 6.

MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(@) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in HK$ and
Renminbi which are the functional currencies of the
principal operating entities of the Group. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2018 Annual Report
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6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk in respect of
its financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
The directors manage this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risk profiles. The
Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on
equity instruments quoted in the Stock Exchange.

At 30 June 2018, if the share prices of the
investments increased/decreased by 10%, the Group’s
post-tax loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$92,000 (2017: HK$106,000) lower/
higher, arising as a result of the fair value gain/loss of
the investments.

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other receivables, loans receivable, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss and
refundable secured deposit included in the
consolidated statement of financial position represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to the Group's financial assets.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
certain concentration of credit risk as approximately
61% (2017: 79%) and 90% (2017: 99%) of its trade
receivables were due from the largest customer and
the five largest customers, respectively. The Group has
policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history. In
addition, the directors review the recoverable amounts
of each individual trade and loan debt regularly to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised
for irrecoverable debts. In this regard, the directors
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on bank and cash balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit-
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The credit risk on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is limited because the counterparties are
well-established securities broker firms in Hong Kong.

The Group obtains collateral from the vendor to
minimise the credit risk in respect of the refundable
secured deposit.
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FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(d) Liquidity risk

(e)

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and

expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities

is as follows:

6.
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The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
the Group does not have significant interest rate risk
as the fluctuation in interest rates is not expected to
be material. The Group will constantly review the
economic situation and its interest rate risk profile, and
will consider appropriate hedging measure in future as
may be necessary.

2018 Annual Report

Within Total
1 year or Between 1 undiscounted Carrying
on demand and 2 years cash flow amount
—EUR RIGRE &
HEEK —EWE mEEHE REE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FERT FERT FERT
At 30 June 2018 R=ZF—N\%F
~A=TH
Trade and other payables F& {8 7 & H b
JE A R IA 22,268 — 22,268 22,268
Within Total
1 year or Between 1  undiscounted Carrying
on demand  and 2 years cash flow amount
—FA REFRHE S
e sk —EMEF mE A RHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
At 30 June 2017 R-F—t%F
~A=TH
Trade and other FE AT BR R R A
payables &1 3R IE 16,607 — 16,607 16,607
Promissory note AR IE 1,800 31,800 33,600 28,881
18,407 31,800 50,207 45,488
Interest rate risk (e) FIZEREIE

ARABEERR  ANFERF
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6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(f) Categories of financial instruments at 30 June
2018 and 2017

6.

EHMREEEEER (&)

(f) R=ZB—N\FER-F—LF
ANA=THEZERMIRER

2018 2017
—E—N\f —E—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET FABTT
Financial assets SRIEE
Financial assets at fair value ERBEREANEFEZ
through profit or loss: TEEE
Held for trading FIEEE 1,098 1,264
Loans and receivables (including E & EKRZE (BFEH S
cash and cash equivalents): kERREIELR) :
Trade receivables JiE Ui BR 3k 21,424 772
Deposits and other 2o & H M fE W I8
receivables 16,684 1,540
Loans receivable JE W E 5k 25,646 25,899
Refundable secured deposit MRECEKAZ S 12,000 70,000
Cash and cash equivalents RekERRESEE 13,027 13,015
89,879 112,490
Financial liabilities SRIEE
Financial liabilities at amortised R K Nt £ 2 € &l
cost a81E 22,268 45,488
(g) Fair values (9) AfE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

(h) Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost capital.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior years.

RAVBRARARASES
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FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT 6.

(CONTINUED)

—NFERA=Z+THLFE

(h) Capital risk management (Continued)

The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may issue or buy-back shares,

issue new debts,

recover debts or sell

assets to

maintain sufficiency of working capital.

The Group’s total capital is the shareholders’ equity
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The Group is not subject to external
mandatory capital requirements and uses the liquidity
ratio (i.e. proportion of current assets to current
liabilities) to monitor the capital.

cRMEREERER(R)

(hy E£EMEEEE)
AEEERZEBERARNE S E R

ERBEBELHEELRARZ - B
Z’E%‘Mﬂﬁkﬁzﬁ EE AR E
Al RE BT AR - BITH

ﬁik WHEHIHEEE "
MEERNLEEES -

AEBWBERBIEE MR
MERFIBFARR RS - N E
BB ST HNEB R H & A E
W1ERAREI LR (B R B & E

REBBEENLY)ERES -

The liquidity ratio of the Group is as follows: AEBERRELL AT
2018 2017
—E-N\%F —tF
Liquidity ratio it E b & 6.28 7.38
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7. AfR{EEE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets

for identical assets or liabilities that the
Group can access at the measurement

date.

Level 2 inputs:

inputs other than quoted prices included

within level 1 that are observable for the

asset or
indirectly.

liability,

Level 3 inputs:

The Group’s policy is to

either

recognise transfers

directly or

unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

into and

transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 7. AREEGE)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 30 June (@ RZE—NFEANA=ZF+HZA
2018: RERERKE
Fair value measurements using:
FERAUTEHABBZARENE
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Bt E— £ E=4 5t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’'000
THERT THERT THERT THERT
Recurring fair value  &EEAAE
measurements: AR
Biological assets EYEE — 348,933 — 348,933
Financial assets at fair &2 2 B AR
value through profit #HZ & @EE
or loss 1,098 — — 1,098
Investment properties & &% & ¥ %
in Hong Kong — 200,000 — 200,000
Investment properties B 1% & )
in the PRC — 77,866 — 77,866
Total recurring fair EHEMARLET
value BEAHE
measurements 1,098 626,799 — 627,897
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 30 June RZZE—tFA=+THZA
2017: REERKRE
Fair value measurements using:
FERAUATEASBRZ AREFE :
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
1% att F—R FMR B st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
Recurring fair value LEENRE
measurements: FTE
Biological assets EMEE = 506,022 — 506,022
Financial assets at fair %2 EF AR
value through profit %2 £ RIEE
or loss 1,264 — — 1,264
Investment properties & &% &M%
in Hong Kong — 190,000 — 190,000
Investment properties F E1% & ¥ %
in the PRC — 77,592 — 77,592
Total recurring fair EHME AR A
value BAE
measurements 1,264 773,614 — 774,878
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7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and
valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements:

The Group’s management is responsible for the fair
value measurements of assets and liabilities required
for financial reporting purposes. The management
reports directly to the Board of Directors for these fair
value measurements. Discussions of valuation processes
and results are held between the management and the
Board of Directors at least twice a year.

The following table gives information about how the
fair values of the Group’s biological assets and
investment properties carried at fair value are
determined.

Level 2 fair value measurements

7.

AR {EE &)

(b)

AEEBMABEBRERERR
AEREMRAGBERTREA
&

AEBEREREAEETHER
EHRECEERBEBAAE
AE-EEEERRAEFTE®R
EREAAEE-BHEENR
Exe8FELTmbEBRRE
REERMIR °

TREINEBAEEIZ A AE
AREEAMEERKREMENR
RENAEE -

BRAREFE

Fair value Fair value
ARE NAE
2018 2017
—T-N\FE —T—+F
Description Valuation technique Key input HK$’'000 HK$'000
11 ikt fE{ER#H EX-1 PN i FET THB T
Biological assets Market approach Market price of poplar trees 348,933 506,022
per cubic meter
EYEE DIRERS BB e LA KT E
Investment Direct comparison Market price of car parking 200,000 190,000
properties in approach space
Hong Kong
EEREME HELBOE BEEFEELTE
Investment Market approach Land: market price per 77,866 77,592
properties in and replacement square meter;
the PRC cost approach Buildings: replacement cost per
square meter
TERREME MEEREE T BFHARTE:
XA E BF SFHKREEKAE

‘90
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REVENUE

The Group’s revenue, which represents sales of recycled
metals, motor vehicles and related accessories, rental income
from car parking spaces, loan interest income and
commission income from selling motor vehicles, is as
follows:

W 2

AEEMBSEHEED RSB - hﬁ
MRS  EFEMES WA - Am
FEWAREERBEHRAEWA
FIE T :

2018 2017
—E—-N\E S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Trading of recycled metals BEERKE B 184,570 —
Trading of motor vehicles and related B & /35 & #8 B8 & (4

accessories 21,683 8,431
Rental income el A 3,751 3,571
Loan interest income B A B A 1,913 1,969
Commission income He A 359 —
212,276 13,971

SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 &P & £l

The Group has six reportable segments for the year ended
30 June 2018 as follows:

(i) Trading of recycled metals

(i) Trading of motor vehicles and related accessories
(iii)  Property investment

(iv)  Provision of financial services

(v)  Securities trading and investment

(vi)  Sales of plantation materials and products

The Group'’s reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products and services. They are managed
separately because each business requires different
technology and marketing strategies.

Segment profits or losses do not include gain or loss on
disposals and deregistration of subsidiaries, loss on
settlement of promissory note, interest income from
refundable secured deposit, sponsor income, finance costs
and income tax credit. Segment assets do not include
refundable secured deposit. Segment liabilities do not
include deferred tax liabilities and promissory note.

%Z:n: )\g/\ﬂ +E|JJ:£|EF ’
Z’K%@/\“T WY EAT

(i) EBEODOkEE

(iy EEFAENBEEG

(i) WYHEELE

(iv) IRESBERS

v) BHEEBERERE

(vi) HEREEEM®

KEB 2 2EFDBERETRE R
FARIS 2 RIS EISEAL - AR S HER
EENR R R TS ERE WD
HEESA2®RD I -

D E /m%lmﬁéﬁgﬂ a%ﬁ’%&uﬁﬁ B
%QTZ% S EE - BEA N EE
2 E1E TL@E%W&%WQW
ACEBEBRA BEKRA RS E
DEEETBIEREDKIFR
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For the year ended 30 June 2018

BHE_Z - \FRA=ZTHLFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) SEEHE (&)
Trading of Sales of
motor Securities plantation Green
Trading of  vehicles Provision trading  materials technology
recycled and related  Property of financial and and  advisory
metals accessories investment services investment  products services Total
B EERER Rt EH HE HBERK
IEII&QB HEESG WERE SHBE SERERE BEER BHRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TAT AT TAT FET TATL TR FAT TR
Year ended 30 June 2018 BE-S-0\#f
AAZt+HLEE
Revenue from external customers SR E SNR & ) M & 184,570 22,042 3,751 1,913 - - — 212,276
Segment profit/(loss) comprising: 7 2 ‘mﬂ/(Eﬁﬁ)E% 1,937 (5,742) 7,230 1,897 (172)  (183,373) —  (178,223)
Loss arising from changes in fair £ MEEALEE
value less costs to sell of ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ&ﬁiz
biological assets g} - - - - —  (174,687) —  (174,687)
Fair value gain on investment RENELZRR
properties W& — — 7,954 — — — - 7,954
Depreciation and amortisation NEREH (1,462) (654) - - - (5,059) — (7,175)
Proceeds from disposal of listed {1 & ET&E#F15
securities I — — — — 2 — — 2
Costs of disposal of listed HEEmEFHAAR
securities — — — — (2) — — 2)
Net unrealised losses on trading
securities ) — — — — (164) — — (164)
At 30 June 2018 Bz %—Mﬁ A=+H
Segment assets NEHEE 28,507 74,503 279,608 25,774 10,422 450,664 — 869,478
Segment liabilities HBEE 313 2,985 3,129 565 467 4,274 — 11,733
Year ended 30 June 2017 BE-S-t#
NA=t+HLEEE
Revenue from external customers R B 9N R & P #) I & = 8,431 3,571 1,969 = = = 13,971
Segment (loss)/profit comprising: 2 2B (& 18), /i FI €1 : = (5,511) 15,799 1,895 (1,424)  (43,189) (284)  (32,714)
Loss arising from changes in fair  4£MEEAAEED
value less costs to sell of B EKAREEZ
biological assets BE = = = = = (33,233) — (33,233)
Fair value gain on investment REMEAR AN R
properties — — 14,938 — — — — 14,938
Depreciation and amortisation FERBH — (599) = — (250) (4,793) - (5,642)
Proceeds from disposal of listed 1% F W& #FT15HE
securities = = = = 4,001 = = 4,001
Costs of disposal of listed HE EMEFHRA
securities = = = = (4,508) = = (4,508)
Net unrealised losses on trading EB##MAZBRERE
securities bk = = = = (442) = — (442)
At 30 June 2017 RZ¥-t&£RA=+H
Segment assets AHEE — 32,966 271,872 26,478 5,784 609,729 — 946,829
Segment liabilities AHMEE = 903 2,917 343 467 1,197 — 5,827
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. HEIEE(B)
Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, B E2FD BN B BE
assets and liabilities: FEEMNEHERAT
2018 2017
—E-—N\%E —EF—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFi#& T THE T
(Restated)
(&)
Revenue: W 2% :
Total revenue of reportable segments 7] 2 R 5 %5 4 Uk =5 212,276 13,971
Loss: 518 :
Total loss of reportable segments A 2Wm N abREE (178,223) (32,714)
Other profit or loss: Hibig s :
Finance costs Bl & A (548) (161)
Gain on deregistration of M B AR 2 =
subsidiaries 2,558 4,864
Income tax credit FTigfiE % 44,475 9,238
Other income H bl A
— Interest income from refundable — A[RED KX S
secured deposit B A 2,000 5,830
— Sponsor income — BEHRA — 400
Corporate and unallocated loss TERKRDBEEE (30,848) (16,661)
Consolidated loss for the year FELSEEIE (160,586) (29,204)
Assets: BE:
Total assets of reportable segments  A] 2 5 5 LB E E 869,478 946,829
Refundable secured deposit AREERFZS 12,000 70,000
Corporate and unallocated assets TEERRDPEEE 38,356 17,730
Consolidated total assets LEREE 919,834 1,034,559
Liabilities: Bf&:
Total liabilities of reportable segments #] 25 HEEE 11,733 5,827
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIBEEE 112,661 152,414
Promissory note o E IR — 28,881
Corporate and unallocated liabilities %Kk RKDEEE 12,485 14,786
Consolidated total liabilities REREE 136,879 201,908
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. SHEBEF (&)
Geographical information: [ & w
Revenue Non-current assets
W 23 REBEE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\fE —T—+tF —E-N\%E —T—+F
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET THET FAT
(Restated)
(E7)
The PRC M 72,572 — 552,559 687,249
Hong Kong &5 139,194 13,971 215,169 195,174
United Kingdom g5 359 = — =
Macau and others 8P K H b 151 = — —
212,276 13,971 767,728 882,423
In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based REF|MEERE KR DHREBEEP
on the locations of the customers. FrfEHu st & o
Revenue from major customers: RKEEERFP AN :
2018 2017
—EB-N\£E§ —ET—+tfF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FATT
Trading of motor vehicles BEEAE
Customer A EPA N/AT & 1,800
Customer B = FB 72,572 N/AZ i
Customer C BPFC 29,717 N/AT jiE 8
Revenue from the above customers individually contributed RE LR F YRR E 2
more than 10% of the total revenue of the Group. W 2£10% A k-
& Customer did not contribute more than 10% of the total revenue & HE_Z-—NFAA=1+THLEFE "
of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2018. Z PG R B AU 10% A
Fo
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

10.

11.

12.

OTHER INCOME 10. Hilg A
2018 2017
—T—-N\E e
HK$°000 HK$'000
Ti#& T FBT
Interest income from refundable AREDEFERESF B
secured deposit (note 26) WA (B 5£26) 2,000 5,830
Sponsor income 2B A — 400
Others H 302 447
2,302 6,677
FINANCE COSTS 11. BEERE
2018 2017
—FT—-N\E —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Ti#& T FABT
Interest on promissory note A EBF R 443 161
Interest on loans and overdrafts ERREZF B 105 =
548 161
INCOME TAX CREDIT 12. FiRHiER
2018 2017
—E—-N\E e
HK$'000 HK$ 000
Ti#& T FABT
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax B Eifi1E — & & A5
Provision for the year FEREE 510 313
Over-provision in prior years BT FEBEEE (49) (30)
Deferred tax (note 28) IR JE A7 18 (Y 5E28) (44,936) (9,521)
Income tax credit st e (44,475) (9,238)

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at a rate of
16.5% (2017: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits for
the year ended 30 June 2018.

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

EANEHREREBEE-_ZT—N\FA
ZTHLEFEZATERREF 2
16.5% (ZZF—+t%F : 16.5% ) 5T 12 &
f& o

Hipiwlm 2 EERTUE MR IAM X 2%
AEEELMEBRRRITHE - 1R
BEBBRTEN  RERESRGE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e S R M R

For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONTINUED) 12. FiRBiiR (8)
Reconciliation between income tax credit and REABEANAENFBEBRERR
accounting loss at applicable tax rate Bt BEERZHER

2018 2017

—E—)\F —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

(Restated)

(&E=75)

Loss before tax B %4 Al B 18 (205,061) (38,442)
Tax calculated at applicable tax rate %@ F #i R25% (=& —+

of 25% (2017: 25%) F:25% )5t E 2 BiIA (51,265) (9,611)
Effect of different tax rates of the MBARIMER— 2 &

subsidiaries 1,927 1,265
Tax effect of expenses that are not  NAIHIREFI X 2 B IS 52 22

deductible 6,504 3,046
Tax effect of income that are not BARMBMAZRIFZE

taxable (2,420) (4,902)

Tax effect of temporary differences FERERHEZZE 2 KRG

not recognised A (713) (105)

Tax reduction 7t 745 HOR (197) —

Over-provision in prior years BAFE 2 BEEE (49) (30)

Tax effect of tax losses not RERRIAEE 2 B
recognised B 1,738 1,099
Income tax credit Frig i % (44,475) (9,238)
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e M HRME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 13. £EKE

WS EARR(GEA) T R R R
N

This is stated at after charging/(crediting) the following:

2018 2017
—T-0\E —T—LtF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
(Restated)
(e E5)
Amortisation of intangible assets = & = oY 5,125 4,793
Auditor’s remuneration % SN B & 950 850
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEKA 192,973 6,755
Depreciation e 3,276 1,893
Gain on disposals of property, plant HEWE BEKRREZ
and equipment W 25 (7) —
Loss on write-off of property, plant  #$H¥W % - BE RRE 2
and equipment = — 11
Operating lease charges on land and it RIEFKEHEE R
buildings 6,120 3,923
Staff costs (including directors’ ETXA(BREEZHN):
remuneration):
— salaries, bonuses and allowances — ¥ & - 7E4L &JZBL 15,044 10,679
— retirement benefits scheme — RIKTE FIET &4 5k
contributions 419 274
— equity-settled share-based — URELEEURD &
payments E RN K 8,920 —
24,383 10,953
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRNE

For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS

‘98

(a) The emoluments of each director are as follows:

14.

EERITHARMNE

(a) BEREBEHMSIHEDOT :

2018
—E-0\E
Retirement Equity-
benefit settled
Salaries and Discretionary scheme share-based
Fees allowances bonus contributions  payments Total
UEREH
BB R LR
e HeRER B EiEal AR BERMXR Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000  HKS$'000
TET TER TER TET TER TET
Chief executive TR
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang R ELE 1,536 — 128 18 465 2,147
Executive directors BTES
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi ~ REA L4 180 — 15 10 249 454
Mr. Wong Po Keung HRBEE 300 660 80 18 465 1,523
Mr. Chung Siu Wah ELEEE 1,056 - 88 18 465 1,627
Mr. Chik To Pan BBIE 5 480 — 40 18 465 1,003
Independent non- BIFHTEE
executive directors
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang HEELAE 120 — 10 - 166 296
Mr. Ong Chi King FFHEE 120 — 10 — 166 296
Mr. Heung Chee Hang EEBEE 120 — 10 — 166 296
Total @t 3,912 660 381 82 2,607 7,642
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e B SRR MY R

For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 14. EERITHEEMNE (8)
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) The emoluments of each director are as follows: (a) BREEMHHWT : (8B)
(Continued)

2017
=
Retirement Equity-
benefit settled
Salaries and  Discretionary scheme share-based
Fees allowances bonus  contributions payments Total
NEREE
RIREF PARR {7
we HelER [R=REAAN FEfR REBRMR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TET TAET TET TET TER
Chief executive THER
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang  HBEBEE 1,536 = 128 18 — 1,682
Executive directors BITEE
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi 2 EF &4 180 = 15 10 — 205
Mr. Wong Po Keung ~ E1R3% %4 300 660 80 18 — 1,058
Mr. Chung Siu Wah @k 1,056 — 88 18 — 1,162
Mr. Chik To Pan B £ 480 == 40 18 — 538
Independent non- BUFHTES
executive directors
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang ~ EE4 L4 120 = 10 = — 130
Mr. Ong Chi King FrHELE 120 = 10 = = 130
Mr. Heung Chee Hang & &EEBE4E 120 = 10 = — 130
Total ‘st 3,912 660 381 82 = 5,035
There was no arrangement under which a director and BHE_Z-—NFER_ZT—LF
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any NAZTHLEFEESERTR
emoluments during the years ended 30 June 2018 and BB S R E Sk B B E
2017. ERB & 2B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R R MR
For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 14. EERTHAERIMNE (8)

EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during
the year included three (2017: four) directors whose

(b) EBEEREHFAL

FR AEBRERESHFAL
BRE=ZF2(CE—tF:0H)

emoluments are set out in note (a) above. The F=E HEMSFH R EXW=E
emoluments of the remaining two (2017: one) (@ HTWMBE(ZZTE—LF : —
individuals are set out below: BIANTZHE5EHMT :
2018 2017
—E-N\FE —EF—tF
Basic salaries, allowances and EA#H & - FZEREEY
benefits-in-kind A 2= 3,515 780
Retirement benefit scheme B RAE A 5T 8 4 30
contributions 31 =
3,546 780
The emoluments fell within the following bands: NFE T EE S
2018 2017
—E—)\E — Tt &
Nil = HK$1,000,000 = %1,000,0007 JT — 1
HK$1,500,000 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,000/ ;T &
2,000,000 J© 2 =
2 1

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors or the highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

15. LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners
of the Company is based on the loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$159,784,000 (2017: HK$27,673,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 1,777,106,333 (2017:

15.

AEEBERTIMNESEK RS
FALTZAME  EAMNAR
EE R IA S B B 2 ZE
ol B B AR (E o

BRiREE

BREXEBE

ARREE ARMSREREE 2

HBEEBRNNRHEA ABGFEAERE

#)159,784,000/%% L (= & — £ F ¢

27,673,000 70) K F N E 17 L 8@
% hn 4 S 19 801,777,106,333[% (= =

1,697,138,114) in issue during the year. —+ 4 :1,697,138,114/%) -
Diluted loss per share BREEBE
The effects of all potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive HE-_ZT-—NFRk= +E XA

for the years ended 30 June 2018 and 2017.

‘ 100 China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2018 Annual Report

_+EJJ:¢FE’JFFrE5§EiﬁHx 2
BR#E -



For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

16. DIVIDENDS 16. B2

EXVAEZHAEMREE_FT N
FR_E—ttFRA=THLEFEIK
MERKE -

17. Y% BERRE

The directors do not recommend or declare the payment of
any dividend in respect of the years ended 30 June 2018
and 2017.

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvements  equipment Cruiser vehicles Total
A -
HERE RERRE ik RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAEL FTAEL FTEL TAEL FTAEL
Cost 7%
At 1 July 2016 RZE—~"E+A—H 2,814 3,799 3,000 = 9,613
Additions NE 34 192 = — 226
Write-off i 85 (5 (18) = = (23)
At 30 June 2017 and WRZ=ZE—+FXA=1+H
1 July 2017 k—F—+tF+A—H 2,843 3,973 3,000 = 9,816
Additions nNE 2,152 5,057 = 6,271 13,480
Disposals & = (216) — = (216)
At 30 June 2018 RZE-NFAA=1H 4,995 8,814 3,000 6,271 23,080
Accumulated RiRE
depreciation
At 1 July 2016 RZE—~"EtA—H 197 2,826 825 = 3,848
Charge for the year RERMEK 565 428 900 = 1,893
Write-off ik (3) 9) — — (12)
At 30 June 2017 and RZE—+F A=T+H
1 July 2017 k=—ZT—t&+H—H 759 3,245 1,725 — 5,729
Charge for the year RE RN 1,007 770 900 599 3,276
Disposals HE — (7) — — (7)
At 30 June 2018 RZZE-NE~A=1+H 1,766 4,008 2,625 599 8,998
Carrying amount fRE{E
At 30 June 2018 RZE—NFAA=1H 3,229 4,806 375 5,672 14,082
At 30 June 2017 RZE—+tF~A=1H 2,084 728 1,275 = 4,087
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. IREYE
Car parking Industrial
spaces properties Total
=B TEYE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FA T FA T FA T
Fair value A5 E
At 1 July, 2016 (restated) RZZE—X"F+tA—HK=E
3) 171,000 — 171,000
Additions NE — 81,368 81,368
Change in fair value NABEES 19,000 (4,062) 14,938
Exchange difference ME 3 =5 = 286 286
At 30 June 2017 and 1 July 2017 R —ZE—+tFA=+tHK
(restated) —T—tF+A—H(K=E
3) 190,000 77,592 267,592
Change in fair value TN ([ELE 10,000 (2,046) 7,954
Exchange difference ME ¥, =5 = 2,320 2,320
At 30 June 2018 RZZE—N\FEA=+H 200,000 77,866 277,866

The car parking spaces are situated in the Hong Kong and
held under medium term lease. As at 30 June 2018, the fair
value of the car parking spaces is HK$200,000,000 (2017:
HK$190,000,000), which was arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out by ARM Appraisals Limited, an
independent professional valuer. The fair value is based on
the direct comparison approach under fair value
measurement level 2.

The industrial properties are situated in the PRC and held
under medium term lease. As at 30 June 2018, the fair
value of the industrial properties is HK$77,866,000
(equivalent to RMB65,700,000) (2017: HK$77,592,000
(equivalent to RMB67,400,000)), which was arrived at on the
basis of a valuation carried out by ARM Appraisals Limited,
an independent professional valuer. The fair value is based
on the market value approach for land and replacement cost
approach for buildings and structures under fair value
measurement level 2.

As at 30 June 2018, the car parking spaces with aggregate
carrying amount of HK$200,000,000 were pledged to a bank
to secure bank loans granted to the Company. A deed of
assignment of rental income from the car parking spaces
was executed in the favour of the bank (2017: Nil).
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FEMMUNES  UhHHEEREH -
RZZE—N\FXA=+H BFEMLZ
A # 18 /5200,000,000 T (—F —+
£ : 190,000,000/ JT) ' hiR B =E
[ ERMARM Appraisals Limited 17
ZHEEAEEER - AREDNRER
BUEBERALESEE _HtE -

TEWEUNFE  LAhBHEERH
B-N_ZE—\FXA=1+H IT%
W2 2 A 5 18 B77,866,0000 T (48
£ AR #65,700,0000) (=T —+
177,592,000 T (HHER AR K
67,400,0007T)) * iR BY HE LA
BTARM Appraisals Limited# 77 2 &
BAEEER  THUAREFRERE
MZARBEDIDRRETEEIREE
MAER AR BEFERE —FstHE o

R-_ZE—N\FEA=+H £HEE
200,000,000/8 7T Z 2 BB E B T
ARAZBITERER FRITIEAIR
e BIRITAR AR YEEMNR
SWAEBEZL(ZZ—LF:F)o



For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

19. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 19. EYEE

Standing
timbers
REREHRAK
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 July 2016 RZZE—AR"FELA—H 547,224
Changes in fair value less costs to sell NAEEE RS EKA (33,233)
Exchange differences E & =% (7,969)

At 30 June 2017 and 1 July 2017 RZE—tHEXA=THRK
—E—+tF+H—H 506,022
Changes in fair value less costs to sell A7 BB R SRR (174,687)
Exchange differences fEH =5 17,598
At 30 June 2018 WZZE—-N\FRA=TH 348,933

The Group’s biological assets represent standing timbers on
plantation land of approximately 30,000 Chinese Mu with a
lease term of 30 years, expiring in 2038. The standing
timbers comprise mostly poplar trees (accounting over 99%
of the total standing timbers), mixed with a very small
portion of other species of deciduous trees such as elm and
willow. During the year, the Group did not harvest or sell
any standing timbers (2017: Nil).

The Group's standing timbers as at 30 June 2018 were
independently valued by Roma Appraisals Limited (“Roma”)
which comprises a group of independent professional valuers
with experience and expertise in relation to biological assets
valuation. Their team consists of professional valuers and
agricultural experts who work together in a wide array of
biological assets to ensure the reliability and fairness of their
valuation results. Accordingly, the directors are of the view
that Roma is independent and competent to determine the
fair value of the Group’s biological assets.

REE 2 W) & E R AL £930,0009
B EE T i E R R - %58
BB AR30F  RZT=ZN\F
JEm o RREMARETZ /B HHE (5
2 BARERK AR BII% ) - KA D
BHEHMMEARESA - Bl &
o - FR - REBYERKKIEE
EARFEEMAR(ZE—LF &) -

AREER—ZZF-NFRA=ZTHREK
KMANEBERESBERFGHEERL
AIESER]) BFE  Hh—4A
AREMEERELRREXZANEN
BYHEEMGLEMANK - BERBEREER
HEMESXER  RERZELY
BERBTAF BRGEGERAIER
RF-Ht - EERREFTER B
YREBENEEASEEEMEEDN

nRfE-.
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

19.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Roma has adopted a market approach for the valuation of
standing timbers. The method uses the present market value
in terms of price per unit cubic meter of round logs and the
total merchantable volume of timbers on the plantation land
as at 30 June 2018 as a basis for calculating the fair value
less costs to sell of the biological assets. Roma has adopted
the measured merchantable volume of standing timbers as
indicated by the forest manager of the Group and also
verified the market price per cubic meter of logs by
referencing to the market price lists, after taking into
account of local timber manufacturing factories as well. The
principal assumptions adopted are as follows:

1. no material changes in the existing political, legal,
technological, fiscal, economic conditions, climate and
any other natural condition; and

2. the movements of the price of the timber, the setup
fee and maintenance fee for tree plantation will move
in line with the price index of forestry product in the
PRC.

The valuation technigues used in the determination of fair
values as well as the key inputs used in the valuation
models are disclosed in note 7.

Nature risk

The Group's revenue depends significantly on the ability to
harvest wood at adequate levels. The ability to harvest on
the plantation land and the growth of the trees on the
plantation land may be affected by unfavorable local
weather conditions and natural disasters. Weather conditions
such as earthquakes, rainfall, underground water, fire,
disease, insect infestation and pests are examples of such
events. The occurrence of severe weather conditions or
natural disasters may diminish the supply of trees available
for harvesting on the plantation land, or otherwise impede
the Group’s logging operations or the growth of the trees
on the plantation land, which in turn may have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s ability to produce the
products in sufficient quantities and a timely manner.
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

20.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

20, BIC&E

Exclusive
Operating distribution
rights rights Total
EEE BROEHE aza
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
F& T T FHET
Cost 7.
At 1 July 2016 R-_ZE—X"&E+A—H 147,228 — 147,228
Exchange differences E & =58 (2,057) = (2,057)
At 30 June 2017 RZZTE—tFE A=+
and 1 July 2017 AR=-Z—+&+A
—H 145,171 — 145,171
Additions NE — 24,115 24,115
Exchange differences PE i =58 4,283 = 4,283
At 30 June 2018 R \F
~NA=1+H 149,454 24,115 173,569
Accumulated amortisation 25T & & g {E
and impairment
At 1 July 2016 R-_TE—X"E+A—H 37,217 — 37,217
Amortisation for the year ESUAE: 4,793 — 4,793
Exchange differences b 5+ =& (474) — (474)
At 30 June 2017 and RZE—tF A=+
1 July 2017 A=—ZF—t+&+A
—H 41,536 — 41,536
Amortisation for the year F N # i 5,059 66 5,125
Exchange differences E & =58 1,148 = 1,148
At 30 June 2018 RZZT—N\F
~NA=1H 47,743 66 47,809
Carrying amount IR H E
At 30 June 2018 RZE—/)\F
~NA=+AH 101,711 24,049 125,760
At 30 June 2017 RZE—tF
NAZ=TH 103,635 — 103,635

The operating rights relate to the favorable aspect of the
right to use and operate the plantation land of a subsidiary
of the Company. The subsidiary was acquired in the year
ended 30 June 2009. The intangible assets are amortised
using straight-line method over the useful life of 30 years
and the remaining useful life is 20 (2017: 21) years.

The exclusive distribution rights relate to the exclusive rights
to distribute and sell products associated with the golden
flower tea business in the PRC for a period of 30.6 years.
The exclusive distribution rights are amortised on a straight-
line basis over the useful life of 30.6 years and the
remaining useful life is 30.5 years.

REREANRNFHBARMERRLE
BEETHEFNNENAS - AARR
BHE-_ZTZAFNA=ZTHIEFEWK
BWERAR -EBEFEEFRERER
A P A B A305 N EESY - meR T~ Al
& A8 A20F (= F — £ F: 21
&F) o

BROHEEERPESHEREESTE
RIEEERELER 0 AH30.6%F -
BROEENEGEAZRDF B
30.64F K 8 T 6 HA30.54F # 84 o
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

21.

22.

GOODWILL 21. HE
HK$°000
FAT
Cost DN
At beginning and end of reporting period & H 40 R B R 1,087
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at RIS Grh BB m B R KRR D
acquisition, to the CGU that are expected to benefit from EEEAXEREBEHNESEE
that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill BN - HEREEESIREREES
had been allocated to the CGU of trading of motor vehicles. REEEEM -
Impairment testing of goodwill 2R EAR
Trading of motor vehicles CGU EEEEHSESAEN
Goodwill is tested for impairment for this CGU by the EEERZIRCEABMETHER
management by estimating the recoverable amount of the BRI T EEREFRBRESSE Y
CGU based on value-in-use calculation. HEcELABEMMATKESEE -
As at 30 June 2018, the value-in-use calculation uses cash R-_ZE—NEXBA=+H FHEH
flow projections based on the financial budgets approved by HEFERAEEER &R E AR 2 Bt
the management covering a 5-year period. Key assumptions BIEEARBENIRSRTEL - EEE
used by the management in the value-in-use calculation of RESEASBNFERABETETFER
the CGU include budgeted revenue and gross profit margin. HMETERIDEFELWZREFRE -
The pre-tax discount rate used for estimating the value in EEERABENBATE R 514% -
use is 14%.
The assumptions have been determined based on past BN EEEEERTREESE
performance and management’s expectations in respect of HBEEFREBELAEEEEEETE -
the motor vehicles trading in Hong Kong and the PRC.
The management is not currently aware of any other SIBEE R AR E N NAR S
probable changes that would necessitate changes in its key TEMANEMEMAEES c B E
estimates. No impairment loss has been recognised for the —E—N\ENB=tHILEE &
year ended 30 June 2018 (2017: Nil). BRI nEEa( - —+
FE) -
INVENTORIES 22. B8
2018 2017
—F-N\E —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET TABTT
Finished goods B fh 40,152 13,356

‘ 106 China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2018 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M HRME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. FEERAR R H BRI

2018 2017

—F-N\E —E—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FETT

Trade receivables JE U BR 3Kk 21,424 772
Prepayments, deposits and other FENRIE - Ze REME

receivables g k18 38,759 27,830

60,183 28,602

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on
credit. The credit terms generally range from 30 to 180
(2017: 30 to 180) days. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. For new customers, payment in advance is
normally required. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by the directors.

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice
date, and net of allowance, is as follows:

AEEBFTEUEEARETPIUR
SR - BB — &N F302180K

—E—+ F:308180K) % o
NBRPHERFELR FIZXFPBEEAE
DRATN K o NEE ISKEH EKE
BREWRIAGSREEE - E5TH
1% B 180 HF 45

ERUREZEZAHZREKE DT (2
MEREE T

2018 2017

ZF-N\F —T—+F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FAET

0-90 days 090K 20,289 758
91-180 days 91£ 180K 220 10
181-360 days 1812360 765 2
Over 360 days B 360K 150 2
21,424 772

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are not

3 FE {51 5K 5 B8 15 45 7% % Rl (B2 FE U

individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as BRFERE DT T -
follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\%F —T—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Not yet past due A 7K 180 2R 12,303 758
0-90 days past due 2 % Hi0ZE 90K 8,071 10
91-180 days past due 2 %1 81912 180K 491 =
181-360 days past due 2 #1 #3181E360K 559 4
21,424 772
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. FEM AR R H fih B W R IE (48)
(CONTINUED)
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a ERMERBREL RSB RZEE
number of independent customers who have no recent AEEW HTEAEREL R FRIFE
history of default and have kept good track records with the BB 2BYTP NEBY ELZ
Group. The Group does not hold any collateral over these SEBS A EMERG RBUEL
balances. Based on past experience, the management B EEEHEHRNZSESRTAYL
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect BEAGHARZH AN QA 28
of these balances as there are no significant change in their e - EARZSERIEL RER
respective credit quality and the balances are still considered f& o
fully recoverable.
24. LOANS RECEIVABLE 24. FEWERK
2018 2017
—E-N\%E —T—+F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FHERT FAE T
Loan receivable, secured EKRER  BER 2,000 7,500
Loans receivable, unsecured ERER - EEA 22,843 17,510
Loan interests receivable, secured ERERFE - BHEA 12 446
Loan interests receivable, unsecured — FEUE FKFIE - £ K 17 791 443
25,646 25,899
The loans granted are interest bearing at 9%-15% (2017: BRZEFIRENEINREIS% (ZZ
9%-12%) per annum. The loan period is generally 3 to 12 — L F 9%:|:12°/0>n+§ o B K HEAME
(2017: 1 to 12) months. Loan receivable of approximately —RA3E12(CF—HF : 1212) A
HK$2,000,000 (2017: HK$7,500,000) is secured over the A o & W & X #92,000,000# 7T (= &
property owned by the borrower. The directors of the — £ %F : 7,500,000/ 7T) VA & SR A
Company monitored the collectibility of the loans receivable BZYFERRF - KRR EELEH
closely “with reference to their respective current 875 B A {5 A E KBRS ok - & V)&
creditworthiness and repayment records. RIEXE A A YO N o
The ageing analysis of these loans and interests receivable, RIRMER S OB E K Ia kB R
based on loan commencement or renewal date set out in HERMZEER R ERF S RE DT
the relevant contracts, is as follows: wm
2018 2017
—E—-N\FE —ET—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FA T
0-90 days 0£90:K 19,593 7,634
91-180 days 91E180K — 10,319
181-360 days 181E360K 6,053 7,946
25,646 25,899

As at 30 June 2018, loans receivable of approximately
HK$453,000 (2017: Nil) was past due by 181 to 360 days.
The receivable that was past due but not impaired relates to
an independent borrower that has a good track record with
the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that no provision for
impairment loss is necessary in respect of this balance as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and
the balance is still considered fully recoverable.
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25.

26.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 25. ZEBESRAAENEZLE
PROFIT OR LOSS BE
2018 2017
—E—-N\FE —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
TER FAET
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, R&B LM 2B AZ S
at fair value BRARE 1,098 1,264
The fair value of the listed equity securities was determined EmRABH 2 AR ETIREMEE L
based on the quoted market bid prices of the corresponding MRAFLFRMIBMisHABERE -
listed equity securities.
REFUNDABLE SECURED DEPOSIT 26. JRECHEAER:

The Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement and
a supplemental agreement on 27 November 2013 and
16 December 2013, respectively, with an independent third
party in relation to the acquisition of 100% equity interest
of a target company and its subsidiaries which are mainly
engaged in hotel operations in the PRC (the “Proposed
Acquisition”). On 23 December 2013, an amount of
HK$150,000,000 was paid by the Group as refundable
deposit. The refundable deposit was charged over the entire
issued share capital of a Hong Kong subsidiary of the target
company and was classified as secured deposit for
acquisition of subsidiaries as at 30 June 2014.

According to the Company’s announcement dated
28 October 2014, the Group and the vendor entered into a
termination agreement to terminate the Proposed
Acquisition because certain conditions precedent of the
Proposed Acquisition were not satisfied. Pursuant to the
termination agreement, the Group and the vendor agreed
that the refundable deposit shall be refunded to the Group
by three installments including HK$60,000,000;
HK$45,000,000; and HK$45,000,000, repayable on
10 November 2014, 27 January 2015 and 27 April 2015,
respectively. The first installment of HK$60,000,000 was
received by the Company on 7 November 2014.

AREFBR-—ZBIE=HTN_T—=
F+—A-F++tHE-_ZT—=F+—
B+75B 7RI B & s M@ 7T
Z AR ERRBEEZEARRENE
NEIZ100% B ANiEm BIREEE
TRAPBEYEEEES ([ERWiES
B - RZE—=F+=-—A=+=
B - K& E % 150,000,000/ ¢ © 1E
BAREERSL MN-_ZT—ME/NA
=1+ H ZEURERSEHEER
A—HEEBHEARZ2EE BT
AAVEIRAR - W o A IEH B A A
BEHZESE -

BEREAAGBEBHA-_Z—NFE+ A
—t+NBzRAM REEEEFEIM
BIEEUAREEZRBESE EBA
BZWEEE A TR GEGERE
B e RIBER I HE AEEEE 5 #
FARERSBE O HRETAE
B BESHER=-ZT—NF+—A
+B - —ZE—FRF—A-_t+tHKZ=
T —HREMWPA=-++HE:E
60,000,0005 7T * 45,000,000/ 7T &
45,000,000 e AR RIBE R =&
—MNE+—AEHWKEE —HER
60,000,000 7T, ©
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26.

27.

REFUNDABLE SECURED DEPOSIT (CONTINUED)

According to the Company’s announcement dated 18 June
2015, the Group and the vendor entered into a
supplemental termination agreement to amend certain terms
of the termination agreement relating to the refund of the
remaining refundable deposit. Pursuant to the supplemental
termination agreement, the Group and the vendor have
agreed that the remaining refundable deposit shall be
refunded to the Group by two installments including
HK$20,000,000 and HK$70,000,000, together with interest
as calculated at 5% per annum, repayable on 18 June 2015
and 19 November 2015, respectively. The second installment
of HK$20,000,000 together with interest was received by the
Group on 18 June 2015. During the year ended 30 June
2018, the Group received deposit refund of HK$58,000,000
together with interest income of HK$2,000,000. The deposit
of HK$12,000,000 was overdue as at 30 June 2018 (2017:
HK$70,000,000).

No provision for impairment has been made as the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that the outstanding
refundable deposit is fully recoverable.

26, JRECHFZRE (&)

BEARARBEBHA-_ZT—RFE A
FTNANBZRM  AREBBEEFEL—
DETERIEHE URBRER AR
BRESEBIIRIEMEZE TERK R
BRAAKREHE AEBHEHE
FB T A R B K 2(8 &
20,000,000 T % 70,000,000/% T &
R EF E5%1E 2 B) #5 /il &
REFTAEE DR -ZT—RHFEN
A+N\BRER-_Z—RF+—At+tAhH
BN - NEBER -_ZE—HFE A
+/\ B & # % — Hi3k7820,000,0007%
TTERFE - REBEE_FT—\FNA
—T+HLEFE AEEKEZEESER
58,000,000/ 7T & [@ I B & A
2,000,000 L e A = — \F X A
=+ 8 ' # 412,000,000/ 7t & %0 &
(ZZ—+ 4 : 70,000,000/ 7T) °

HRARBEER /R AEERE
Be A AR E - I & R E
i e

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. FETIRF R H b FEFRIE
2018 2017
—E—N\E e
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Trade payables FE A BR K 717 3
Other payables and accruals H th & 5 5K I8 I FE 5T 5K IR 22,299 17,150
23,016 17,153

The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the date of
receipt of goods, is as follows:

FEMBRZIZRWE B 2 R#k 5 A
T

2018 2017

—E—-N\FE —E—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

0-90 days 0E90K 66 3
91-180 days 91£180K 69 =
181-360 days 1812360K 582 —
717 B
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28. DEFERRED TAX 28. EMEPHIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities are as follows: BRETRIBEBEEZEMOT
Financial
assets

at fair value  Fair value
through adjustment
profit or on biological Operating

loss assets rights Total
‘AR EE
AERZE EPHEEZ ~
RIEE AREAE EEE ELE L]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T
At 1 July 2016 R-—ZT—XRFtH
—H 15 136,806 27,503 164,324
Credited to profit or loss for 4 PR 18 z 31 Bk
the year (note 12) (FF7%12) (15) (8,308) (1,198) (9,521)
Exchange differences b 5 =& = (1,993) (396) (2,389)
At 30 June 2017 and R-ZZ—tFRH
1 July 2017 =t+AEKR=E
—tF+H—H — 126,505 25,909 152,414
Credited to profit or loss for 4 RF 18 #5 1 %
the year (note 12) (fF3E12) — (43,671) (1,265) (44,936)
Exchange differences fEH =5 = 4,399 784 5,183
At 30 June 2018 RZZE—N\FERA
=+H — 87,233 25,428 112,661
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused RMEHR NEERBAHIEEE
tax losses of HK$66,065,000 (2017: HK$62,728,000) 66,065,000/ T(— T — £ F:
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax 62,728,000/ JT) A] f ¥ 8 R K /&
asset has been recognised in respect of the unused tax A o R R TEET AR 2K s ) SRR - iR
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. W AREARIBEISBERELETIE
Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of BE- T ARERMEEBED
approximately HK$13,274,000 (equivalent to 13,274,000% L(HH F KX A R &
RMB11,200,000) (2017: HK$12,151,000 (equivalent to 11,200,0007C)( = & — + £
RMB10,555,000)) that will expire in 5 years from the year of 12,151,000 TT(FBE R H A R &
origination. Other tax losses may be carried forward 10,555,0007T)) #% B #E 15 F [& &8 515
indefinitely. & o EL B TE 5 18 ] A SR BR R AR
L
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29.

30.

—NFERA=Z+THLFE

PROMISSORY NOTE 29. A RER
On 6 June 2017, the Company acquired industrial properties RZZE—+tFXAAB  #HaHizE18
as set out in note 18 by issuing Promissory Note (the “PN") Fr&k - AN A A LA 7K & 58 /330,000,000
with a principal amount of HK$30,000,000 as a partial BITHARLZER(ALER]DKET
settlement of the consideration. The fair value of the PN EWE T’E?\%*Eﬁv\%fﬁﬁ% o 7S B
was assessed to be approximately HK$28,720,000 on 6 June BR-ZZFE—LFNANBEHAEAR
2017 by Roma. The PN is unsecured, denominated in HK$, Z N A (B4 £28,720,00058 Tt ° &
interest bearing at a fixed rate of 6% per annum and HEEAEKT  UBTAE  RE
mature on 5 June 2019. EFMECRETE R 2T —NF
NAABEIHE-
On initial recognition, the fair value of the PN is determined RYIFERE  REEBENAREBETD
based on the present value of the contractual stream of Hz HWARRESRENEREBETT
future cash flows discounted at 8.08% per annum. The P8 08%EE - MiEXTY %“ﬁ%iﬁ
discount rate is determined with reference to the yield rate EAZBEBEUNEETRKEE K
with credit rating and duration similar to the PN. fEl M 5 5E ©
The movements of the carrying amount of the PN are set TXHINAXEBRETENES :
out below:
HK$ 000
FAT
At 1 July 2016 RZE—XRFELtH—H =
PN issued on 6 June 2017 il A S A = X )
W E R iR 28,720
Interest charged calculated at effective interest rate RERMNEAHENHE KA E 161
At 30 June 2017 and 1 July 2017 RZE—tFRXA=THRK
—F—tHFtH—H 28,881
Interest charged calculated at effective interest rate REBRENEGFERN D HF R 443
Loss on settlement of PN HEEALZEEREBR 1,144
Repayment of PN BEEALER (30,468)
At 30 June 2018 RZZFE—N\FEXNA=1H —
SHARE CAPITAL 30. &
2018 2017
—EB-N\E —+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHETT FA T
Authorised: ETE
15,000,000,000 ordinary shares of FREEE0.0278 7T 2
HK$0.02 each 15,000,000,0000% 3 78 f% 300,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRAR :
2,036,538,114 (2017: 1,697,138,114) ®RXE1E0.02/% T Z
ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each 2,036,538,1141% & if ix
—E—tF:
1,697,138,1144%) 40,731 33,943
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30.

31.

—NEFERA=ZTHLEFE

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

A summary of the movements in issued share capital of the
Company is as follows:

30. & (&)

ARBREETRAZEHMELT :

Number of
shares Amount
I3 & B &
HK$'000
FHT
At 1 July 2016, 30 June 2017 and R-ZE—XR"ELH—HB8"
1 July 2017 —E—tFA=+H
E=—ZF—+F+H—H 1,697,138,114 33,943
Placement of new shares (note) it & A% (47 22 ) 339,400,000 6,788
At 30 June 2018 R=ZZE—N\FA=+H 2,036,538,114 40,731

Note:

On 12 March 2018, the Company entered into a placing agreement
with a placing agent in respect of the placement of 339,400,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each to independent investors at a price of
HK$0.255 per share. The placement was completed on 6 April 2018 and
the premium on the issue of shares amounting to approximately
HK$77,345,000, after net of share issue expenses of approximately
HK$2,414,000, was credited to the Company’s share premium account.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Equity-settled share option scheme

The existing share option scheme of the Company was
approved on 11 November 2015 (“Share Option Scheme”)
(the 10% general limit under the said share option scheme
has been refreshed pursuant to a resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 11 November 2015). The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to provide the Group with a
flexible means of giving incentive to, rewarding,
remunerating, and/or providing benefits to the participant
and to provide the participant with the opportunity to
acquire a personal stake in the Group and to build common
objectives of the Group and the participant for the
betterment of business and profitability of the Group and its
shareholders as a whole.

The Board of Directors may, at their discretion, invite any
participant to take up options. An option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted by the grantee upon his or her
signing the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the
option and paying HK$1 by way of consideration for the
grant thereof.

31.

Hiat -

NRZE-—NE=A+=-0 AARHEEEK
BV EH#E - WA H BIRER0.25558 T
6 38 37 % & % B £339,400,000/% & i% @ &
0028 T2 EBR -BEER_T—/\FHWE
BRABZER BB BETZ2HENA
77,345,000 T (KL MR BRH BETH I D
2,414,000 70) ' EFF AR AR ZRHD = E

LLB% 193 B 2 1 B9 £ R
LIRS E 2 BB I st &l
RAaRITEREFSENR=_ZE—R1F

+— A+ — B (R )
(RRFAN_F—RE+—A+—H

BITNERBEFRSERRBERE
EENBERES S WI0%— KL

R) - BT EEEAEEN AR
DEELTRE RE Wk &
RERM ARG TLERERAEH
FREMBAEm o #E  WEAKER

SEEZRETHRBER  ARER
SEZEXBRBMENMEFRRE
EEE-

EXgURNBRFETM2EERNE

fR#E o IR AEE AWM HRREN
BEREZRGERZ B TIERZER
EREs2RER  BRESHEAD
PO R A AN o
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31.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

The subscription price for shares in the Company under the
Share Option Scheme will be the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares in the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date (which
date must be a business day); (ii) a price being the average
of the closing prices of the shares in the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share of the Company.

The total number of shares in the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total number of shares in the Company in issue as at the
date of approval of the Share Option Scheme. An option
may be exercised during a period to be determined by the
directors in its absolute discretion and in any such period
shall not be longer than 10 years from the date upon which
the option is granted.

The maximum entitlement for any one participant is that the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant under the
Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue of the
Company. Any further grant of options in excess of the 1%
limit shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in general
meeting with such participant and his or her associates
abstaining from voting. The Share Option Scheme will
remain in force for a period of 10 years from the date upon
which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

31.
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VAR 1 B B 8 B 14 3% (48)
MRS H 2RIk E5T 8 (&)

RIZBIRE S - NARBDRIEE
ARUTERZERE (MREBK
BERWAREER)EBRXAEH
BERMBARFRMDKHE ()
EREEREERANOEZEEABR
P HMERABAR A RN Y HE
B FIME  Ri)ARRIRMDEE -

RIEERAEE R AR TR EMmE
PR BRI 2 2 P AR T
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 31. iRz BE @R (&)
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) DIRHESH 2B 8l (48)
Details of the movements of share options are as follows: BREZH 2FBEAT

Number of share options

BREsE
Balance as at
1 July 2016,
Exercise 30 June 2017 Granted Balance as
price per and 1 July during the  at 30 June
Grantees Date of grant Exercise period share 2017 year 2018
R-B—R%§
tA—8"
—E—t%
~AAETHR ®
—F—tF —E-0\E
_ _ﬁﬂﬁ tHA—B#%H ~A=+H
RBA RHBH TEH TIE(E ZiERE ERRE Z &R
(HK$)
(A7T)
Executive Directors 22 April 2016 22 April 2016 = 21 April 0.2064 42,428,451 — 42,428,451
2026
HITES —F-REF —E-RFWNA-1T—H
MA=+=H E_FT_XRFOA
—t+—H
Executive Directors 5 June 2018 5 June 2018 — 4 June 0.3170 — 9,900,000 9,900,000
2028
WITES —E-N\F —E-N\EXAABZE
~NAEH —E-NFSAMA
Chief executive officer 22 April 2016 22 April 2016 = 21 April 0.2064 14,142,817 — 14,142,817
2026
TR E = s —E-RFEA=T=H
mMA=+=H E-_T-_RFWA
—+—H
Chief executive officer 5 June 2018 5 June 2018 — 4 June 0.3170 = 2,800,000 2,800,000
2028
THAEE —ZE-N\F —E-NFX AREBEZE
~NARA —ZE-NFSAMA
Independent non- 5 June 2018 5 June 2018 - 4 June 0.3170 — 3,000,000 3,000,000
executive directors 2028
BUFRTES —ZE-N\F —E-NFX AREBEZE
~NARA —ZE-NFSAMA
An employee 22 April 2016 22 April 2016 — 21 April 0.2064 14,142,817 — 14,142,817
2026
—%EER —E—REF —ZE-R"EWNAZ+=H
MA-—+—H E-Z-XEWA
~—+—H
Employees 5 June 2018 5 June 2018 - 4 June 0.3170 — 18,800,000 18,800,000
2028
= —E-N\F —ZE-N\FAREBEZE
NAEA ZE-NFAAEA
Consultants 5 June 2018 5 June 2018 - 4 June 0.3170 — 20,400,000 20,400,000
2028
R —E-N\F —ZE-N\FAREBEZE
ANAEAR —E-N\FAAMA
70,714,085 54,900,000 125,614,085
Weighted average
exercise price (HK$)
MEFHTEECET) 0.2064 0.2547
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 31.

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

The fair value of share options was calculated using the
binomial pricing model. The inputs into the model are as

VLR 5 B B i ) 4 3% (48)
MRS H 2RIk E5T 8 (&)

ERHOBEREZ 2ABIIER =R
HREERMUAE ZRE T RE

follows: ABBEAT -
Date of grant 22 April 2016 5 June 2018
—B-RE ) EAY
=% mA=+=8H 7~AAH
Stock price Iz (& HK$0.1987%8 7T HK$0.315% 7T
Strike price T B HK$0.20647% JT HK$0.317% 7T
Historical volatility FE SR @ 96.86% 47.82%
Contractual life ERFH 10 10
Risk free rate 5 2 b ) 1.311% 2.125%
Dividend yield fix B U 2 & 0% 0%
Early exercise multiple RETHEEH 2.8 2.2-%28
Exit rate per annum FmRE 22.92% 0%—227.32%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the
previous 10 years. The expected life used in the model has
been adjusted, based on the Group’s best estimate, for the
effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

32. GERERERZMEE

(a) Acquisition of subsidiaries (a) WEBMIBAT
On 6 June 2017, the Group acquired assets and RZE—LEHFRARB K&
liabilities by way of acquisition of 80% equity interest NKEERKRERR QA
of Warner Investments Limited at a consideration of 80% AR 7 HE 2= 0 77 =\ W FE B B
approximately HK$58,720,000, which was settled by K& f& - KB4 458,720,000/
cash and PN. T N RERZBEN -
Assets and liabilities acquired: BERBrEERAE: HK$'000
FATT
Investment properties "EME 80,674
Cash and cash equivalents RekFRRELIER 198
Accruals and other payables JE & 5K I8 I B th FE < 5RIE (2,375)
Amount due to shareholder JE - AR 3R 5K I8 (5,097)
Non-controlling interest FE P AR #E & (14,680)
58,720
Satisfied by: BT EBEEN:
Cash " 30,000
PN A H R 28,720
58,720
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEEEEENRS R
R AR
Cash consideration paid ENBEeKE (30,000)
Acquisition cost paid B 42 B K A (694)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BEErzEeRERES
3 B 198
(30,496)

There is no significant change to the Group’s revenue
and loss for the year if the acquisitions had been

completed on 1 July 2016.

WKBEERER —_T— R FLH
—HZEK A FTEHAREEN
FRKRGERERERERTZE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

32. GERERERZME(E)

(b) HEMEBATE
REERMNEE (BE)F

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries

Net assets/(liabilities) at the date of disposals are as

follows: BN :
2018 2017
—E—-N\E —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
T#&ET T&T
(notes (i) & (ii)) (note (iii))
( Bt & (i) R (i) ) (B 5 (i )
Prepayments, deposits and other FE{1ZIE « & & K E A
receivables JiE U 3k 1B 17 —

Bank and cash balances 1T R & &R 2 —

Accruals and other payables JE 5 ZR 38 R E Ath FE {5 R IE (15) (25)

Non-controlling interests FE 12 iR 7 7 7

Net assets/(liabilities) disposed B HEEE (BE)FHE

of 1 (18)
Total consideration wRE — 1
Loss/(gain) on disposals of HEWBARZER

subsidiaries (U zs) 11 (17)
Net cash outflow arising on HEESXNR ML FE

disposal:

Cash and cash equivalents EHEReRERES

disposed of 18 H (2) =

Notes: Kt -

(i) On 31 May 2018, the Group disposed of all its shares in (i) R-_E—N\ERA=1+—8"
World System Development Limited for a consideration of AEBEHEXKBEREBRA
HK$51. Al 2B - EERSIET °

(ii) On 29 June 2018, the Group disposed of all its shares in (ii) R—_ZE—NEXA=+NIB"
Triple Harvest Holdings Limited for a consideration of REBEHEZ2HRM  1E
HK$8. B R8HETT °

(i)~ On 25 July 2016, the Group disposed of all of its 70% of iy RKRZZE—X"FtA=-+=HAB"

RE B E H 2 270% K Wise
Win Holdings Limited 2 % 17 i%
A {EER546ETT °

the issued share capital of Wise Win Holdings Limited for
a consideration of HK$546.
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32. ZEBERERZHME(E
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(c) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (c) RMEEHELEZABES
activities
The following table shows the Group’s changes in TRINTEAAEERMEED
liabilities arising from financing activities during the EXCBEEZD:
year:
Total
liabilities
from
financing
Borrowings PN activities
RIEEHELE
B AR ER ZBEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FA T FAT FA T
At 1 July 2017 RZE—tF+H—H — 28,881 28,881
Changes in cash flows ReREF (105) (30,468) (30,573)
Non-cash changes FIREEE
— interest charged — BEFE 105 443 548
— loss on settlement of PN — #: &5 & ZE E 18 = 1,144 1,144
At 30 June 2018 RZT—)\%F
NAZ=ZTH — — _
33. DEREGISTRATION OF SUBSIDIARIES 33. iEHMBAE
Net liabilities of the subsidiaries at the date of deregistration RaEEEHNBE AR ZBEFHEN
are as follows: T
2018 2017
—E—)\F —T—+tfF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHERT FAET
(note (i)) (note (ii))
(B &EG) ) (B 7% Gi) )
Prepayments, deposits and other TENRIE - ZE RHEM
receivables & U SR IE 65 —
Accruals and other payables FE 5T 7018 K E i FE 5 ;R IE (2,662) (4,864)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEABTERE (2,597) (4,864)
Release of cumulative foreign currency £ 55 & 4 #5 7 @1
translation reserve 39 —
Gain on deregistration/disposals of HHE HEMBRRZ
subsidiaries Wz (2,558) (4,864)
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

33. DEREGISTRATION OF SUBSIDIARIES 33.

(CONTINUED)
Notes:

(i) Bright Delight Group Limited and ¥Ti8 % =+ A% AR A A were
deregistered on 1 May 2018 and 1 June 2018, respectively.

(i) The deregistration of Bright Delight Asia-Pacific Research Macao
Commercial Offshore Co. Limited was completed on 31 October
2016.

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 34.

COMPANY AND RESERVES

(@) Statement of financial position of the

&t 55 i /B 2 B (&)

Bt -

(i) Bright Delight Group Limited [ %58 &
EBTEMBERABRESHIR=ZZT—N
FRA-BR=ZZTE-—NEXA—BiF

(i)  BATMERE CRFIBEFEERS) B
BRARBR=ZZ—A"F+A=+—H

A2B2HBRRRRGHE

() FABZMHBRAR

Company
2018 2017
—ET—N\FE —E— 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FBT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KB AR Z®E 10 15,730
Current assets RHBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other FEff3KIE * & & K H b
receivables JiE U Zk 18 947 924
Due from subsidiaries JE W HfE B A B 5K IR 782,504 743,934
Bank balances R1T 45 4 300 3,813
783,751 748,671
Current liabilities REERE
Other payables H b & {4 5K 1B 7.365 6,897
Due to subsidiaries RO ENGIE S — 19,354
7,365 26,251
Net current assets RBEERE 776,386 722,420
Total assets less current BELERRHER
liabilities 776,396 738,150
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Promissory note 7 B — 28,881
NET ASSETS BEEH 776,396 709,269
Capital and reserves BERR A
Share capital fig 2= 40,731 33,943
Reserves {7 1 735,665 675,326
TOTAL EQUITY EimEHm 776,396 709,269
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—NEFERA=ZTHLEFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(b) Reserves of the Company

3. EABIZMBRRARRHE

(48)

(b) FAEIfME

Share-based

Share compensation

Accumulated

premium reserve losses Total
MR ERR AR BN & 15 RitEE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FAT FAT FAT
At 1 July 2016 RZTE—R%F
+HA—H 1,133,156 6,923 (449,869) 690,210
Loss for the year FEBAE — — (14,884) (14,884)
At 30 June 2017 R-ZT—+tF
NA=1H 1,133,156 6,923 (464,753) 675,326
At 1 July 2017 RZZE—tF
+H—H 1,133,156 6,923 (464,753) 675,326
Loss for the year FEBE = — (25,926) (25,926)
Placing of new shares  RIE—MIRER S
under general mandate A% {7 77,345 — — 77,345
Recognition of equity-  HERAEREE K
settled share-based D AERT R
payments = 8,920 = 8,920
At 30 June 2018 RZF—-N\%F
NA=1H 1,210,501 15,843 (490,679) 735,665
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group (o) FHKERRBEZHERAR

()

(i)

Share premium account

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the share premium account
of the Company are distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the relevant regulations of the
PRC, the group entities established in the PRC
are required to transfer a certain percentage of
the profit after tax, if any, to a statutory reserve.
Subject to certain restrictions as set out in the
relevant regulations, the statutory reserve may be
used to offset the accumulated losses, if any, of
the group entities.

i F’E TEREEREEFRAF
4 A£1‘§‘A§“ 4

() RHimER
RERMSBHESARE A
NRARDEERZEEA
95)&%$’Aﬂﬁ&$ - HERT

EEREREEDIKBE B
Hmé ARw K eESAE B
BEBBREDEEINHE
I8 o

EEHE
BIERRABEER R
B 2 EEEEARE
T £ Bl 2 Bk B2 1% o F) (40
B)ERELTREE &
BTHEBABREZET
REINERT  AEHEE
A AEEREEEERE 2 2
STEE(mE) -

(i)
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 34.
COMPANY AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group
(Continued)

(iii) Capital reserve
Capital reserve represents the difference between
the capital injection made by the Company over
the nominal value of the registered capital of the
PRC subsidiaries.

(iv) Share-based compensation reserve
Share-based compensation reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to directors
and employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for equity-settled share-based payments in note
3.

(v) Foreign currency translation reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out
in note 3.

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 35.

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities
at 30 June 2018 and 2017.

36. COMMITMENTS 36.

As at 30 June 2018, the total future minimum lease
payments of the Group under non-cancellable operating
leases are payable as follows:

ABZHBRARRHEE
(%)

(0 FREfBEZHERRAE

(%)

(i) BEBFXMEHEE
BERRBERARRIEALZ
B Erh EME AR
BEAHEEZHENER -

(iv) Bx#rBM&fiE
Betn Bl 2 & e O AR B 5L
VA P 4 45 B DA IR 47 2 AT Y
RE(RMENHERZ 2
AR ERAASEE
EREEREZEB A
BB ZRITRBEREZ

AP

(v) SPERE
SNERBBBERBREBINE

BHBRRAMELZAA
ENER - AMEERE
Y RE3FT 2 & 5T IR R
5 o

HARIR

AEBR-_ZE—N\FR_ZE—LFN
B=ZtHITETMERNKARERE-

i
R-T—\FAA=+E AEER

457 T 54 A 2 T R R 2 B G
RERBMT -

2018 2017

—E—-N\FE —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FHET

Within one year —F R 3,143 4,535
In the second to fifth years inclusive 2 —FZEF AHF

(BHEEEMF) 1,983 706

After five years hF1& 533 553

5,659 5,794
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36.

37.

COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for office premises. Leases are negotiated for an
average term of 1 to 3 years and rentals are fixed over the
lease terms and do not include contingent rentals.

In addition, a subsidiary of the Company has contracted to
use and operate certain plantation land with an initial lease
term of 30 years with annual concession fee payable of
RMB30,000.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
during the year, the Group entered into the following

36.

37.

ik (4])

REMENTEASERBREEME
AxfMzlE  HELER  F19HE
A E3F  HBAZHEE/EE -
BETeRzAdE -

s - KRRz — BB 2 AT
BREAEKEEETEELN  VIF
HEIR30EF  BRNFERHFEARA
R #30,0007T °

FAEALTX S
(a) BRZFHRAEMBHREEAMED

DHBEZRDGRERIN F
N ANEBEFTZATEKREEEZE

material related party transactions. ATR5 -
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FAT
Rental expenses (note(a)) MERX (K it@E) 2,085 2,077
Sales to a related company mM—EEEARHEE
(note(b)) (Ktitm)) 112 —
Purchases from a related B —HBEERRKE
company (note(b)) (H1:£(b)) 45 —
Sales to a director, Mr. Yeung F—HEZFHEBEBLE
Chi Hang $HE — 375
Notes: Htat -

(a) Rental expenses were paid to a company in which the
mother of Mr. Yeung Chi Hang, Chairman and Chief
Executive Director of the Company, has 50% indirect
equity interest.

(b) Goods were Sold to and purchased from a company whose
director is the spouse of a director of the Company’s
subsidiary.

(b) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company's
directors and all the highest paid employees, is disclosed
in note 14.

(@ MERXEXNTARRERE
ROTBBEBEEREZE
o E ¥ B 50%fE 5 Ik AN # &
OIS

(b) R—HEARHEERE —HAAF
REEm ZARESHAEAR
AMEAR —REEZRME -

(b) EEEBASHM

AEEITEEALZHMHE
BEXNTAAAESRRER
B ¥ ER 2 HIE - KK
B -
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

38.

PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 30 June

38.

n=

A

PG PR

—N\FXRA=+RH  KRAMN

2018 are as follows: BARZFBNT :
Issued and
Place of paid-up/
incorporation/ registered Percentage of
Name of the subsidiary registration capital ownership interest Principal activities
HEMmRI ERTRHE
MEBASEHE & M 3t 2 = i & & FA#ESL ETEER
Direct Indirect
BiE & %
Cai Jin Limited The British Virgin US$1 100% — Investment holding
Islands
ERRRA A RBRELHS 17T BE =R
Gold Vantage Forestry Hong Kong HK$1 = 100% Investment holding
Limited
e MEFR A A & 17 7T REEK
Grand Diamond Investment Hong Kong HK$1 100% — Provision of money
Limited lending services
EEREFRAT BB 17 7T s E R
International Richway Hong Kong HK$1 100% — Provision of
Limited management
services
BEREBEERRA BE 17 7T REEERS
Mega Choice Holdings The British Virgin US$1 100% = Securities trading
Limited Islands and investments
KERELHS 17T EREERKRE
Prima Choice Limited The British Virgin US$1 100% — Investment holding
Islands
RBRELHS 17T BE =R’
Harvest Top Development Hong Kong HK$10,000 — 100% Property investment
Limited
HAZXRARAT BE 10,0007 7T MERE
Wide World Inc. The British Virgin US$1 100% — Investment holding
Islands
KERELHS 17T REER
Elise Company Limited The British Virgin US$1 100% — Investment holding
Islands
RBRELHS 17T BE =R’
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHEZE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

38.

PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

38. AATEMEASFHEE)

Issued and
Place of paid-up/
incorporation/ registered Percentage of
Name of the subsidiary registration capital ownership interest Principal activities
R 8 S BETRHERE
MBAS&E & 1M 3 B = M & & ARE S TEEB
Direct Indirect
i & 43
BAC HK Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 — 90% Distributer and
trading of motor
vehicles and
related
accessories
BE 10,0007 7T SHEREERE
K A8 R e 1
Power Asia Motorsport Hong Kong HK$10,000 — 90% Distributer and
Company Limited trading of motor
vehicles and
related
accessories
& 10,0007 7T DEBKREEA
K A8 B8 e 1
B EMREFR QA The PRC RMB600,000 = 100%  Plantation related
business
A AR #600,0007T & 18 1 B 3 75
Goodland Union Limited The British Virgin US$1 100% — Investment holding
Islands
REELHS 17T REER
Allied Spread Limited Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% Investment holding
HEBRA A BE 1787 & &R
Powerful Elite Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% — Dormant
RZ=BRA A BE 17 7T I 4 % 7
First Rank Corporation The British Virgin US$1 100% — Investment holding
Islands
EEBEREHS 1€ 7T & R
Warner Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 — 80% Investment holding
EBRKEFRRAA B8 1,000 7T RE 2R
RERFEHEBRRA A The PRC HK$77,000,000 — 80%  Property investment
h 77,000,0007% 7T MERE

+ £ ‘A‘ Aft‘m

TERREREEERAR

—E-NEFRH
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 EHE-—Z—N\FANA=THIEFE

38.

PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

38. AATEMEBASFEE)

Place of
incorporation/

Issued and paid-
up/registered

Percentage of

Name of the subsidiary registration capital ownership interest Principal activities
§E AR AR ST ERTRME
MBAS&HE ot M 3th 26 = i & & FA#ESE FEER
Direct Indirect
B i £
Well Harvest Corporation The British Virgin US$1 100% — Dormant
Islands
EBELHE (P 37 #8257
CER Ho Wun Motors Hong Kong HK$100 — 51% Trading of motor
Limited (Formerly known vehicle accessories
as Grand Riches Limited)
HEBEXRARA A i 1007 7T HEREEM
(A mBERAA)
Bright Race Limited The British Virgin US$1 — 100% Investment holding
Islands
EEBELHE (EP REER
Jumbo Well Limited Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% Dormant
ERERAA BB 17 7T I 7
CER Motorsport Limited Hong Kong HK$100 — 60% Provision of services
BB 10078 7T 17 it AR 7%
EBEEZZESZERAA The PRC RMB50,000,000 — 100% Dormant
il A R #50,000,0007T = 100%  WEEZET
Classic Noble Inc. The British Virgin US$1 — 100% Investment holding
Islands
RBRIHE 17T = 100%  IREFRK
Samuel Environmental Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% Investment holding
Resources (International)
Limited
AP RRE 3 (BFR) BB 17 7T = 100%  WEER
BRAA
Samuel Environmental Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% Dormant
Resources (Hong Kong)
Limited
RHERRER(FE) BB 17 7T = 100% W
BRAA
Peak Environmental Hong Kong HK$7,000,000 — 100% Trading of recycled
Resources Limited metals
BRRREXRAR QA BB 7,000,000/ 7T = 100% EBHEOKRSE®
Reward Pinnacle Limited The British Virgin US$1 — 100% Dormant
Islands
RBRIHE 17T = 100%  EEEK
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39. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 39. EBMBEREK
The consolidated financial statements were approved and HEMBRER=ZZE—N\FNLA
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on ZTHN\BEESEERBWREREIT -

28 September 2018.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

EFEBEHRE

AEEYH EFRAEPRFENREAREER
BEZBEIN T AR IHEBE T
BrREBRVBHRE ARNBEBRATE

M-

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements and reclassified as
appropriate, is set out below.

RESULTS For the years ended 30 June
245 BEAA=+HLEEE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—E-N\NFE —FE—+F —T-—RE —_ZT—FHF —_FT—HEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH#ETT FAT FEL FET FHET
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(LBE7) (f&&751) (L E5)
Turnover ] 212,276 13,971 13,365 2,733 9,955
Loss before tax B B A& 18 (205,061) (38,442) (86,937) (84,601) (79,070)
Income tax credit s & 44,475 9,238 16,704 15,700 9,909
Loss for the year FEER (160,586) (29,204) (70,233) (68,901) (69,161)
Other comprehensive HinZ2EBA
income/(loss) (EB18) 17,830 (6,852) (36,979) 1,246 (12,262)
Total comprehensive loss & € 2 [ & 18 2 58
for the year (142,756) (36,056) (107,212) (67,655) (81,423)
Total comprehensive MTALTEIEFEES
loss for the year HEEEEE:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZAAR#HE A (142,235) (34,582) (106,935) (67,655) (81,423)
Non-controlling interests ~ 3E#% Bk #E 25 (521) (1,474) (277) — —
(142,756) (36,056) (107,212) (67,655) (81,423)
ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES As at 30 June
BERERE W<A=+H
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—E-N\E —T—+tF —T—RF _T—HF —_T—UF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#ET FE T T FH T FA& T
(Restated)  (Restated) (Restated)
(BEY) (KEH) HEEH)
Non-current assets JEREBEE 767,728 882,423 835,087 801,026 991,919
Current assets M EE 152,106 152,136 200,491 184,770 78,946
Current liabilities mEEE (24,218) (20,613) (17,234) (16,017) (15,949)
Non-current liabilities 3JERFI B & (112,661)  (181,295) (164,324)  (193,745)  (211,227)
Net assets BEFHE 782,955 832,651 854,020 776,034 843,689
Attributable to: LT ANTRES:
Owners of the ZIN/NIETE? PN
Company 770,542 819,724 854,306 776,034 843,689
Non-controlling FE 12 e A
interests 12,413 12,927 (286) — —
Total equity HERE 782,955 832,651 854,020 776,034 843,689
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